
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422520

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 5 January 2021

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 13 JANUARY 2021 AT 6.00 PM

A VIRTUAL MEETING

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Sarah Gray

Kate Gregory
Lorraine Hillier
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Victoria Haval
Kellie Hinton

Alexandrine Kantor
Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy

Caroline Newton
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


2

1 Chair's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Minutes of the previous meetings  (Pages 5 - 16)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on Wednesday 2 December 2020, 9.30am and 2.00pm.  

4 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

6 Proposals for site visits  

7 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting. 

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications



3

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

8 Land adjacent 
to Kiln Avenue, 
Chinnor  

Erection of fence along the boundary 
of Kiln Avenue (as per minor 
amendment to the block plan 
submitted 9 September 2020, 
correcting proposed height of fence 
to correlate with the elevations and 
acoustic report provided).

P20/S2355/FUL 17 - 28

9 Land to the 
south of Creek 
End, Abingdon 
Road, Burcot, 
OX14 3DJ  

Proposed erection of a detached 
five-bedroom dwelling and a 
detached double garage. (As 
amended by revised site plan 
revised FRA and drainage strategy 
received on 5 October 2020 and as 
revised and clarified by site layout 
drawing S2-P-02D amended to show 
trees on northern boundary received 
on 30 October 2020).

P19/S0058/FUL 29 - 56

10 Land west of 
Pyrton Lane, 
Watlington  

Application for outline planning 
permission for up to 60 homes with 
associated open space and 
sustainable drainage with all matters 
reserved. As amended / clarified by 
plans and information received 17 
September 2020.

P19/S1927/O 57 - 82

11 Land off 
Cuxham Road, 
Watlington  

Application for outline planning 
permission for up to 70 homes with 
associated open space and 
sustainable drainage with all matters 
reserved.  As amended/clarified by 
plans and information received 17 
September 2020.

P19/S1928/O 83 - 
108



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 2 DECEMBER 2020 AT 9.30 AM

THIS IS A VIRTUAL MEETING

Watch the recording here: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ/

Present:

Ian Snowdon (Chairman)

Peter Dragonetti, Ken Arlett, David Bretherton, Sarah Gray, Kate Gregory, Jo Robb and 
Ian White

Apologies:

Lorraine Hillier, George Levy and Celia Wilson tendered apologies. Mocky Khan was 
present as substitute for Celia Wilson.

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Emma Bowerman, Victoria Clarke, Paula Fox, Simon Kitson, Candida 
Mckelvey and Tom Wyatt.

62 Chair's announcements 

The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed for a 
virtual meeting.

63 Minutes of meetings held on 14 and 21 October 2020 

The minutes of the meetings held on 14 and 21 October 2020 were agreed as correct 
records, and will be signed by the chair as such.

64 Declarations of interest 

Councillor Gregory declared interest in two Thame applications, as she voted on them at 
previous Thame Town Council planning meetings. Councillor Gregory would therefore not 
take part in the debate and voting for items nine and ten.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ/


2

65 Urgent business 

The senior planning officer notified the committee that the Local Plan inspector’s report 
has been issued and the plan has been declared sound. Officers would alert the 
committee if this had impact on the applications.

66 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

67 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was circulated before 
the meeting. Statements received had been communicated to the committee prior to the 
meeting.

68 P19/S0332/FUL - Orchard Close Settlement Road, running west 
from T junction and the Old Post Office, Britwell Salome, OX49 5LH 

Item eight: P19/S0332/FUL: Orchard Close Settlement Road, running west from T junction 
and the Old Post Office, Britwell Salome, OX49 5LH 

The proposal was installation of equestrian training mirrors and retention of temporary 
hard standing (as amended by additional plans and information received 29 May 2019 and 
11 October 2019 re-locating the entrance gate which will be installed using permitted 
development rights without planning permission and proposing landscaping). 

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

It was confirmed that a site visit had been attended by councillors and that the site was 
being used by the family only, and there is planning permission already in place for the 
riding arena which has a condition stating it shall be used only for the private leisure 
purposes of the owner of the land, and shall not be used for any commercial activity.

It was mentioned that the mirrors have tree planting behind them and that they weren’t 
noticeable or a problem to any surrounding developments.

There were no speakers on this matter.

A motion was moved and seconded, to grant planning permission for the application as 
per the officer recommendation. It was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P19/S0332/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions;

RECOMMENDATION
Planning Permission granted, subject to the following conditions:
1: Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
2: Materials as specified on the application form

Page 6



3

3: Landscaping scheme to be submitted for approval (to include planting to the west, north 
and south of riding arena, hurdle fencing to the west)
Informative
I: No surface water drainage to highway

69 P2e0/S2525/FUL - 8 Queens Road, Thame, OX9 3NQ 

The proposal was for a detached dwelling in the plot to the rear of number eight and 
number ten Queens Road, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

This application was called to planning committee by Councillor Kate Gregory for the 
following reasons:
Overdevelopment;
Loss of amenity space;
Unneighbourly.

A statement objecting to the proposal was submitted in writing by Mr and Mrs Hazell.

Councillor Helena Fickling, a representative of Thame Town Council, spoke objecting to 
the proposal.

Christopher Helsby, the architect for the development, spoke to support the proposal.

The planning officer reported that the proposal complied with the relevant Development 
Plan policies and, subject to the attached conditions, the proposed development would be 
acceptable in terms of its relationship to the character of the existing building, its site and 
the wider area. It was also acceptable in terms of its impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties. The committee considered that despite some objection to the 
proposal, described as typical infill, that there were no strong planning objections to the 
proposal.

The committee made a request to strengthen the protection of the mature hedge. They 
were satisfied that condition 7 would cover this issue.

A motion was moved and seconded, to grant planning permission for the application, as 
per officer recommendation. It was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S2525/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions;

RECOMMENDATION: 
Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions.
1: Commencement of development three years
2: Development in accordance with approved plans
3: Levels (details required)
4: Materials to be agreed
5: Surface water drainage works (details required)
6: Foul drainage works (details required)
7: Landscaping & protection of retained trees / hedgerows to be agreed
8: Parking & manoeuvring areas to be provided and retained

Page 7



4

9: Gates to open inwards
10: Obscure glazing to upper windows in the north east elevation
11: Withdrawal of permitted development rights for outbuildings
12: Withdrawal of permitted development rights for extensions

70 P20/S2545/FUL - 6 Kings Close, Thame, OX9 3DA 

The committee considered application P20/S2545/FUL for the erection of a two-storey 1-
bedroom end of terrace dwelling, and a two storey rear extension and single storey front 
extension to the existing dwelling (as amended plans received 28 September 2020, setting 
the proposed dwelling back from the pavement by one metre, amending the footprint and 
design of rear projection) at 6 Kings Close, Thame.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

This application was recommended for approval. It was referred to the committee at the 
request of the local ward member following the formal objection by Thame Town Council.

Councillor Helena Fickling, a representative of Henley Town Council, spoke objecting to 
the application.

Councillor David Bretherton a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

The committee had concerns about amenity space, but overall there were no material 
planning reasons to object to the proposal, despite some general dislike of the proposal.
The committee was minded to grant planning permission, with the addition of another 
condition on concurrent development – the extension should be built at the same time.

A motion was moved and seconded, to grant planning permission for the application as 
per officer recommendation. It was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S2545/FUL, subject to the 
following conditions, with the addition of a new condition 8 regarding concurrent building;

1: Commencement within three years
2: The development is to be implemented in accordance with the approved
 plans unless varied by other conditions of consent
3: The materials to be used in the external construction of the walls and roof
 shall match the existing dwelling
4: Withdrawal of permitted development (P.D) (Part 1 Class A, B, and E) – no
 additional extensions, roof extensions or outbuildings shall be erected within
 the curtilage of the site without planning permission from the local planning
 authority
5: The vision splays shall not be obstructed by any object, structure, planting or other 
material with a height exceeding or growing above 0.6 metres as
 measured from carriageway level.
6: Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the parking and 
turning areas shall be provided in accordance with the approved plans and shall be 
constructed, laid out, surfaced, drained and completed, and shall be retained unobstructed 
except for the parking of vehicles associated with the development at all times
7: Prior to the erection of any walls above ground level, details of surface and

Page 8



5

 foul water drainage schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
 the Local Planning Authority.
8. The extension shall be built concurrently.

71 P19/S4187/RM - Land to rear of Greenwood Avenue, Chinnor, OX39 
4HN 

The committee voted to extend the meeting in order to finish considering this item at 
11.53am.

The planning officer ran through the proposal. This item was a reserved matters 
application for the construction of 116 dwellings with associated infrastructure, 
landscaping, parking, open space and reptile habitat. The application considers details of 
access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale, following grant of outline planning 
permission P16/S3284/O for up to 140 dwellings.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer confirmed that recommended condition 4 was to be changed to “no 
more than 88 dwellings to be occupied until all estate roads are provided” – “driveways 
and footpaths” was to be removed from the report under that condition.

The application was referred to committee due to the officer recommendation conflicting 
with the views of Chinnor Parish Council.

Councillor Martin Wright, a representative of Chinnor Parish Council, submitted a 
statement to object against the proposal. Due to technical difficulties, the democratic 
services officer read out Martin Wright’s statement to the committee, as he was unable to 
address the committee.

Andrew Walker, of Chinnor and Princes Risborough Railway, spoke to object against the 
proposal.

Caroline Owen, of Persimmon Homes, spoke to support the proposal.

Councillor Ian White, a local ward councillor, spoke to the application.

The points below summarise the discussion of the committee:
 Concern raised over a lack of private amenity space. Officers added that there was 

enough space locally for residents to use.
 The 116 dwellings were of a good mix.
 The proposal felt like an “anywhere” design.
 A set-back distance had been implemented to create a barrier from the noise and 

air pollution of the railway.
 Officers reminded the committee that this was a reserved matters application, and 

that major changes to the outline planning permission could not be made. This 
application was for layout, appearance, scale, landscaping and access.

 Councillors were pleased to see there would be tree pits to help longevity of new 
trees and asked what tree species would be used.

 Concern raised over block paving, which could create heat islands. It was confirmed 
that the tarmacked areas would be broken up with other material. 

 The landscape officer had worked with Persimmon to improve the landscaping.
Page 9



6

 Officers had improved the parking facilities proposed in the development.
 Officers had worked hard to improve based on concerns raised.
 New homes would have higher standard gas boilers and insulation.
 The committee considered the information on protecting the slowworm population 

on-site and were happy with this.
 The planning officer confirmed that the play area was secured in the outline 

planning permission. We can approve this reserved matters application without the 
play area, as this was holding up the developer’s start date. We still have control of 
the play area through other means, so it is not necessary to withhold consent until 
the legal agreement is varied.

Despite the planning officers advising against adding a condition, due to outline planning 
permission being already approved, some members of the committee wished to add a 
condition for electric vehicle charging points to all 166 dwellings, not just the provision of 
58 charging points. 

A view was expressed that new housing developments needed to cater to future changes 
in technology and the increase in electric vehicles, and the declared climate emergency. 
There were concerns over potential future retrofitting costs. 

Councillors were advised that the developer may appeal the decision. Officers explained 
that the condition would not meet the Government six test. There is no policy supporting 
100% electrical vehicle charging points.

A motion was moved and seconded, to grant planning permission for the application. This 
was declared carried on being put to the vote, subject to the removal of the Section 106 
variation and an additional condition for electric charge point ducting for 100% of 
dwellings.

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P19/S4187/RM, subject to the 
following conditions;

 To add a condition to provide ducting for the 116 dwellings for future electric vehicle 
charging points; and

 To remove the Section 106 variation

RECOMMENDATION
To delegate authority to grant reserved matters approval to the Head of Planning subject 
to the following conditions:
1. Development in accordance with approved plans
2. First floor window in the sides of plots 7, 16 and 28 to be obscure glazed
3. Estate roads and footpaths provided before occupation of each dwelling
4. No more than 88 dwellings to be occupied until all estate roads are provided
5. No garage conversion into accommodation
6. Reptile Mitigation Strategy
7. Pedestrian access points to neighbouring developments
8. Provide ducting for the 116 dwellings to allow for future electric vehicle charging at each 
dwelling.

The meeting closed at 12.15 pm

Page 10



7

Chairman Date

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 2 DECEMBER 2020 AT 2.00 PM

THIS IS A VIRTUAL MEETING

Present:

Councillors: Ian Snowdon (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, David 
Bretherton, Sarah Gray, Kate Gregory, Victoria Haval (as substitute for George Levy), 
Lorraine Hillier, Ian White, and Celia Wilson.
Apologies:

George Levy and Jo Robb tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Steve Culliford, Michael Flowers, Paula Fox, Paul Lucas, Dani Rogers and Tom Wyatt

Also present: 

Councillor David Bartholomew 

72 Chairman's announcements 

The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the procedure to be followed in 
a virtual meeting.

73 Declarations of interest 

Ken Arlett declared a non-pecuniary interest for item P20/S3543/HH as a colleague of his 
was a neighbour of Byron House. He agreed to only speak as Town Councillor and District 
Councillor. He would not take part in any of the debate or vote on the application.

74 Urgent business 

The Development Manager informed the committee that since the publication of the 
agenda, that the inspector’s report for the emerging local plan had been received. The 
inspector’s report confirmed that the emerging plan was sound and as a result the policies 
included within the plan would now carry substantial weight. However, this did not affect 
any of the recommendations in the officers’ reports for this meeting.  

Public Document Pack

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



2

75 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

76 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the 
committee prior to the meeting. Statements from the public received prior to the meeting 
were circulated to the committee and would be published on the council’s website.

77 P19/S4054/FUL - 52 & 54 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1TF 

The committee considered application P19/S4054/FUL for the demolition of bungalow and 
garage and erection of two 2-bedroom houses and two 2-bedroom flats and provision of 
parking including additional parking at rear of No.54 (number of proposed units reduced 
from five to four and layout and design revised as shown on plans and supporting 
documents received 26th March 2020, drainage details received 1st April 2020 and 
reduction in ridge and eaves height and pitch and introduction of gable ends to Plots 1 & 2 
as shown on amended plans received 2nd July 2020 and site area corrected to include 
rear of No.54 as shown on plans received 3rd November 2020), at 52 and 54 Greys Road, 
Henley-on-Thames.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

Councillor Ken Arlett, a local town councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

David Parker, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

The planning officer received questions from committee members relating to the shortfall 
in the level of parking spaces provided and the public parking availability. The officer 
responded that while there would be a shortfall of two off-street parking units, as confirmed 
by the Highway Liaison Officer, the proposal would be within close proximity to Henley 
Town Centre and due to good public transport it would be unlikely to present significant 
adverse impact on the highway network. 

The committee expressed concerns that the proposed development would have an 
adverse impact on the character of the area.  It was bulky and was considered an over-
intensive use of the site and had a lack of parking amenity.  

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P19/S4054/FUL for the 
following reasons:

1. The proposed development did not keep in character with the surrounding area.
2. The proposal would be an overdevelopment of the area.
3. The application contained a shortfall of parking.

Page 14



3

78 P20/S1405/FUL - Land adjacent to The Gables, Station Road, 
Lower Shiplake, RG9 3JR 

The committee considered application P20/S1405/FUL for the erection of a two-and-a-half 
storey apartment building comprising 4 x two bed and 1 x two/three bedroom units with 
associated parking, cycle storage and amenity space provision (height, width and depth of 
building reduced next to western boundary, front dormer reduced, rooflights altered, 
corrections to balcony screening and addition of chimneys as shown on amended plans 
received 30th July 2020), on land adjacent to The Gables, Station Road, Lower Shiplake.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

An additional condition was proposed by planning officers for securing a permanent 
retention of the privacy screens along the sides of the rear balconies following the 
occupation of the apartments.

David Pheasant, a representative of Shiplake Parish Council, spoke in objection to the 
application.  

Tim Green, who had registered to speak, was unable to join the meeting.  His written 
statement, which had been circulated to the committee in advance of the meeting, was 
received.  

Councillor David Bartholomew, a local ward councillor spoke in objection of the 
application. 

A question was raised to the planning officer on the extent that community needs could be 
factored into a consideration for an application. The officer explained that community 
needs are not considered within planning terms.  

The committee considered that the proposed apartments did not sit properly within the 
village of Shiplake.  An apartment block was inappropriate and out of character with this 
area.  It would be over-intensive development and its form and massing was out of 
character with its surroundings.  The committee also held the view that the car parking 
arrangements were inappropriate for this site.  

A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P20/S1405/FUL for the 
following reason:

1. The application was an intensive development which would cause harm to the 
appearance and character of the area.

79 P20/S3543/HH - Byron House, 65 Elizabeth Road, Henley on 
Thames, RG9 1RA 

Councillor Ken Arlett withdrew from the committee for the duration of the item due to a 
non-pecuniary interest and took no part in the debate or voting.

Councillor Sarah Gray left during the item and did not take part in the debate or vote.
Page 15



4

The committee considered application P20/S3543/HH for a single storey rear extension 
(amended plans received 27 October 2020 showing alterations to proposed Bi-fold doors) 
at Byron House, 65 Elizabeth Road, Henley-on-Thames.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting. The 
officer also confirmed that since the publication of the agenda Henley Town Council had 
withdrawn their objection to the application.  A condition to obscure-glaze the ground floor 
window on the north elevation had also been accepted by the applicant.  

Councillor Ken Arlett, spoke on behalf of Henley Town Council, reporting that the town 
council had originally objected to this application but had since withdrawn its objection.  
Catherine Notaras, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Debbie Mason, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. 

Councillor Ken Arlett, local ward councillor, spoke against the application.

In answer to questions from the committee, the planning officers reported that a condition 
to obscure-glaze the ground floor window on the north elevation had also been accepted 
by the applicant; a previous decision to remove permitted development rights did not mean 
that the applicant could not have any windows but would need to seek planning permission 
for such windows; and the obscure-glazed window would be fixed shut but with an opening 
fan-light window.  The applicant did not need planning permission for glazed roof lanterns.  

With these questions answered, the committee considered that there were no material 
planning reasons to refuse the application.  

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P20/S3543/HH subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commencement of development within three years
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
3. Materials to match existing
4. Obscure glazing to new ground floor window on the north elevation

The meeting closed at 4.25 pm

Chairman Date

Page 16



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

APPLICATION NO. P20/S2355/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 3.7.2020
PARISH CHINNOR
WARD MEMBERS Lynn Lloyd

Ian White
APPLICANT Taylor Wimpey
SITE Land adjacent to Kiln Avenue, Chinnor
PROPOSAL Erection of fence along the boundary of Kiln Avenue 

(as per minor amendment to the block plan 
submitted 9 September 2020, correcting proposed 
height of fence to correlate with the elevations and 
acoustic report provided)

OFFICER Caitlin Phillpotts

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 Consideration of this application was deferred at the meeting on 25 November in 

order to allow Members to visit the site. This application has been referred to the 
Planning Committee at the Planning Manager’s discretion due to the planning history 
of the site and the level of local interest.  
 

1.2 The application site is shown on the OS plan attached as Appendix A. The re-
development of the former Chinnor Cement Works was granted planning permission 
in 2010 and, except for the care home element, is now complete.  

1.3 The former Cement Works (now Old Kiln Lakes) is adjacent to the Chinnor and 
Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) line.  The line and yard are to the other side of 
the fence that is the subject of this application.   The CPRR Association Limited is a 
voluntary body which maintains and operates this heritage railway.  

1.4 The planning process for the re-development of the former Cement Works secured an 
acoustic barrier between the railway line and the new homes opposite the railway on 
Kiln Avenue.  This was a requirement of the original planning permission to mitigate 
the noise from the railway, to minimise any conflict between the operations of the 
existing railway and the new residents.  

1.5 The approved acoustic barrier has not been provided.  The fence that the applicant 
erected alongside the railway is a standard close boarded fence.  It is lightweight, with 
a gap at the bottom and has holes where the knots in the wood once were, as shown 
on the photo below:

Page 17

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2355/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

1.6 Several of the residents on Kiln Avenue have made complaints to the council 
regarding the noise from the railway.  

1.7 The manufacturer of the fence previously approved at the site has since ceased to 
operate and the approved units are no longer available. 

1.8 This application seeks planning permission for an acoustic fence comparable to that 
previously approved.  A copy of the plans submitted with the application are attached 
as Appendix B and other documentation associated with the application can be 
viewed on the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Chinnor Parish Council 

- Objects commenting, ‘the specification needs to be the same, or better 
than the previous specification’

- Objects commenting, ‘It appears that the specification proposed by Taylor 
Wimpey is not equivalent or better than the specification in the original 
outline approval. It should be noted that the same developer has provided 
a correctly specified fence on the other side of the railway line (application 
reference P15/S4131/RM). Therefore, there should be no relaxation of the 
specification’

2.2 Environmental Protection Team 
- Recommends approval subject to the attached conditions commenting, the 

proposed fence meets the requirements required for the proposed acoustic 
fencing  

2.3 Chinnor Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) 
- (3) Objects considering the fencing now proposed to be inferior to that 

originally provided at outline stage and unsuitable in that it would not 
sufficiently mitigate noise transmission from the diesel engines to the 
adjoining residential dwellings and as such the proposal fails to meet the 
requirements of national and local plan policies which seek to protect 
existing businesses and / or community facilities  

2.4 Neighbours
- (3) Objects ; commenting the fence proposed is not tall enough to 

adequately prevent the transmission of noise from the railway line
- (2) Comments in support ; of a proposed scheme supported by acoustic 

reports and environmental health officers – raises concerns over the loss 
of existing soft landscaping 

Page 18

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P09/E0145/O - Approved (29/06/2010)

178 residential units, max 60 bed care home, max 1555sq metres of B1(A) offices with 
associated means of access, car parking, landscape, amenity space, service 
infrastructure, A 3.5 metre high acoustic screen along part of the access road and 
provision of a new car park for the Chinnor Princes Risborough Railway.  Full planning 
permission is sought for the residential units, means of access, car parking, landscape 
(including the acoustic screen), amenity space, service infrastructure and the railway 
car park and outline permission for the care home and offices with layout and access to 
be determined(as amended by plans and documents accompanying letter from Agent 
dated 27 August 2009)(AMENDED PLANS AND AMENDMENT TO ENVIRONMENTAL 
STATEMENT)(and clarified by letter from Agent dated 7 October 2009).

This is the original planning permission for the redevelopment of the former Cement 
Works.  The description of the development included ‘a 3.5-metre-high acoustic screen 
along part of the access road.’  This was a hybrid planning application applying for 
some matters in full detail and others just outline.  The description confirmed that the 
acoustic screen was the subject of full planning permission.  

3.2 The plans that were approved under this application (drawing no D1689.L.227) showed 
the acoustic barrier extending for a distance of some 260m along the access road, as 
shown in the extract taken from this plan below:

3.3 The approved acoustic barrier included a mix of the following:
- modular interlocking retaining wall system;
- native hedge planting;
- acoustic fence with climbers;
- criblock-wall with climbers; and
- native shrub planting,

as shown on the extracts from the approved plan below (sections A and B from above 
plan):

Page 19

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P09/E0145/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

3.4 P10/E1917/DIS - Approved (09/06/2011)
Acoustic Screen, Chinnor Cement Works.
Discharge of condition 22 on P09/E0145/O

This discharge of condition request sought to approve details for condition 22 of the 
above planning permission.  This condition states:

3.5 The details submitted for this discharge of condition request included alternative 
acoustic fence details.  This involved the erection of a 2.1m buffalo acoustic fence on 
top of a 300mm bund to achieve a combined height of 2.4m, as shown on the section 
plan below (4382:18 Rev A):

Page 20

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

And in elevational form (drawing no 4382:19):

These details were approved under this discharge of condition request in June 2011.  

3.6 SE18/583 -  (pending)
Breach of condition 22 of P09/E0145/O.

This is the enforcement case which is investigating the breach of condition 22 of 
P09/E0145/O. The current application has been submitted in an attempt to regularise 
the breach.  

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 Not applicable 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM1  -  Supporting a successful economy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies

CF1  -  Protection of recreational or essential community facilities
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
RUR11  -  Former Chinnor Cement Works
T6  -  Protection of existing or former rail facilities
TSM1  -  Tourist industry

5.3 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 

CF1  -  Safeguarding community facilities
DES6  -  Residential amenity
EMP12  -  Tourism
EMP3  -  Retention of employment land

The Inspector has issued his report following the Examination in Public. He has found 
the Local Plan sound subject to the main modifications. At the time of writing this report 
the Plan has substantial weight. If the plan is adopted by the Council on 10 December 
2020 it will carry full weight.

Page 21

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=SE18/583


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

5.4 Chinnor (review) Neighbourhood Plan policies

CH B1 - Existing Employment
CH B2 - Enhancement of Employment Facilities
CH T1 -  Enhancement of Tourism Facilities
CH CF1 - Protection of Facilities

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

5.7 Other Relevant Legislation

Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning consideration is the following:

 Impact on the residents of Kiln Avenue against the noise from the 
operations of Chinnor Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) and the 
viability of the CPRR as a local employment,  tourism and key community 
facility

6.2 Impact on the CPRR
The key issue to be considered under this application is whether the fence now 
proposed, would provide appropriate mitigation for the residents of Kiln Avenue against 
the noise from the operations of CPRR.  This is a matter of concern for both the 
affected residents and CPRR Association.  

6.3 The Chairman of CPRR has submitted several documents raising concern that without 
appropriate noise mitigation, the Railway will come under increasing pressure to curtail 
its activities. Where the fences now proposed stand at approximately 2.4 metres in 
height it is acknowledged that this is comparable to the scheme approved under 
application P10/E1917/DIS. However, they consider the 3.5 metre fences originally 
provided for at the outline stage are necessary to successfully mitigate noise 
transmission from the diesel engines into the adjoining residential properties. They 
believe that a lesser scheme (like the one now proposed) ‘…will seriously jeopardise 
future operations, financial viability and ultimately the ability of the railway to exist’.

6.4 Policy CH CF1 of the Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan (CNP) identifies Chinnor and 
Princes Risborough Railway (CPRR) Station as a key community facility within the Plan 
area.  The local importance of CPRR is further outlined at paras 2.41 and 9.22, and in 
appendix 3:

Page 22

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

The heritage railway of the Chinnor and Princes Risborough Steam Railway 
Association has been in service since 1994 bringing many welcome visitors at 
weekends and bank holidays making a significant contribution to the local 
economy, estimated at £0.5m per annum. The railway track was fully reconnected 
to the main network in February 2016. Future projects for the Association are to 
open an education centre and extend the railway to Aston Rowant.

Noted examples of the existing tourism and heritage facilities include the Chinnor 
and Princes Risborough Steam Railway.

This is a preserved heritage railway which is a thriving tourist asset contributing to 
the local economy.

6.5 Given that CPRR is a valuable tourist facility, policy CH T1 of the CNP is relevant to the 
consideration of this application for the acoustic mitigation measures now proposed. 
This policy seeks to protect existing tourist facilities, and states:

Other proposed developments adjacent or in the environs of any tourism or 
heritage facility should safeguard the integrity of the facility concerned. Proposals 
will not be supported that would cause damage to the use, attractiveness, 
accessibility and sustainability of any tourism or heritage facility.

6.6 The impact that the re-development of the former Cement Works would have on the 
operations of CPRR was a matter that was considered under application P09/E0145/O.  
The site-specific policy for the re-development of the former Cement Works (policy 
RUR11 of the SOLP) set out a number of criteria that the development had to meet, 
including that the development: 

provide for the continued operation of the Chinnor/Princes Risborough railway line
and protect the former line to the south west from development which may 
prejudice re-use in accordance with Policy T6; 

Policy T6 of the SOLP states: 

Existing or former rail facilities will be protected from development which might 
adversely affect their use or potential re-use for public transport or as a cycling 
route. 

6.7 Although appropriate mitigation was proposed under application P09/E0145/O and a 
variation of the scheme subsequently approved under P10/E1917/DIS, this mitigation 
has never been provided.  The existing situation is clearly not suitable as the council’s 
environmental health team has received several complaints from residents regarding 
the noise disturbance caused by the railway.  

6.8 The Council’s environmental protection officer has reviewed the application documents, 
including the acoustic report and is satisfied that the proposed fence meets the 
requirements required for the proposed acoustic fencing and recommends that it is 
installed in accordance with the plans and supporting documents submitted. 

6.9 Policy EP2 of the SOLP advises that noise sensitive development will not be permitted 
close to existing or proposed sources of significant noise or vibration.  The residential 
development at the Former Cement works is noise sensitive and was only permitted 
next to the existing noise source of the railway on the basis that appropriate mitigation 
be provided.  

Page 23

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6.10 Further, Para.182 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires planning 
decisions to ensure that new development can be integrated effectively with existing 
community facilities, and states that:   

‘Existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions 
placed on them as a result of development permitted after they were 
established. Where the operation of an existing business or community facility 
could have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes of 
use) in its vicinity, the applicant should be required to provide suitable 
mitigation before the development has been completed.

6.11 As CPRR was established prior to the re-development of the former Cement Works, 
Para.182 of the NPPF makes it clear that the responsibility to provide appropriate 
mitigation lies with the applicant. 

6.12 On the basis of the information submitted with the application and the relevant 
consultation responses, I am satisfied that the fence now proposed is comparable to 
the noise attenuation scheme previously approved under application P10/E1917/DIS 
and provides suitable mitigation. In light of the views expressed above I consider the 
scheme proposed would protect the interests of the heritage railway which is a thriving 
tourist asset of significant value to the local economy. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and, subject to the 

attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of its 
relationship to the character of the existing site and the wider area. It is also acceptable 
in terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
2 : Noise attenuation 

 INFORMATIVE - Chinnor (Review) Neighbourhood Plan policies

Author:  Caitlin Phillpotts
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

 

Page 24

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P10/E1917/DIS
mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 25

Agenda Item 8P20/S2355/FUL



EXISTING RAIL LINES USED BY CHINNOR AND PRINCES RISBOROUGH RAILWAYS (CPRR)

FOR DETAILS OF ENTRANCE WALL TO
DEVELOPMENT SEE DRAWING NO.
69-1639-ED-101.

POSSIBLE FUTURE ACCESS TO CAR
PARKING FOR SPORTS PITCH

 

6.0
m

FOR LANDSCAPE RESTORATION PROPOSALS
OF IDO LAND SEE FABRIK DRAWING D.1689.L270

1.8
m

3.0
m

1.8
m

3.0
m

6.0
m

C

A

B

GG

K

KLL

N

MM

JW

W

Z

BINS

BINS

CYCLES

ZCYCLES

L

2.547m BSW Warrior Fence
  

g

g

g
g

g

g

g
g

g g

g

g

g

g

g

g

g

g

g

Possible position
of bus stop*

H

7

1 1

1

V

1

3
2

456
8 9 10 11 12 13

14

15

16

17

27-41

6

3 25

7

89 10 11

14

13

15

16

17

41

1

42-50

17

16

4

3
5

6

7

129 10 11

15

V

25

28 V

35 V

4

12

31

30

36

40

V

V

V

46

V

50

48

49

50

4944

4843

27

45

29 VV

8

2

47

V

42

n o 
r t h

Taylor Wimpey Oxfordshire, Windrush Court, Suite J,

Abingdon Business Park, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 1SY

t: 01235 541900 f: 01235 541901

Date:

Drawn: Checked:

Drawing Title

Project Title

Drawing Number
Rev.

Scale:

B Sept. 2020 Fence label amended

BLO-001

Appendix B

P
age 26

AutoCAD SHX Text
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Description

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
1:500@A2

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
MAR 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
BLOCK PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
FENCE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
OLD KILN LAKES, CHINNOR



Taylor Wimpey Oxfordshire, Windrush Court, Suite J,

Abingdon Business Park, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX14 1SY

t: 01235 541900 f: 01235 541901

Date:

Drawn: Checked:

Drawing Title

Project Title

Drawing Number
Rev.

Scale:

P
age 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
2.547M HIGH FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
CONCRETE FENCE POST

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Rev

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
Description

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
1:25@A3

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
AMN

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
JUNE 2020

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
FENCE PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
CHINNOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
OLD KILN LAKE



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0058/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 8.1.2019
PARISH CLIFTON HAMPDEN
WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye
APPLICANT Mr N Mullard & Mrs F Brann
SITE Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road 

Burcot, OX14 3DJ
PROPOSAL Proposed erection of a detached five bedroom 

dwelling and a detached double garage. (As 
amended by revised site plan revised FRA and 
drainage strategy received on 5 October 2020 and 
as revised and clarified by site layout drawing S2-P-
02D amended to show trees on northern boundary 
received on 30 October 2020).

OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application was deferred from the committee meeting on 16 December 2020 due

to the meeting guillotine having been reached prior to its consideration.

1.2 This application was originally considered by committee on 15 January 2020 where 
members resolved to grant planning permission subject to conditions. The original 
committee report is attached at Appendix 1. 

1.3 The original report stated that the Council’s drainage officer had no objection to the 
scheme. The report highlighted that the site was in flood zone 1 and a detailed flood 
risk assessment (FRA) was not required despite some concerns in respect of 
drainage from neighbours and the Parish Council.

1.4 Following on from the January committee meeting there were further discussions with 
neighbours and our drainage officers.  It became apparent that the information in the 
committee report in respect of drainage was incorrect. Photographic evidence from 
neighbours showed that flooding does occur on the site, but it was not clear whether 
this is caused by surface water run off or ground water flooding. In addition, it was 
highlighted that the South Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2018 
identifies the area as being highly vulnerable to ground water flooding. It was clear 
that a decision could not be issued until the drainage issue was addressed. A 
drainage statement and FRA were submitted in April 2020 and have been the subject 
of consultation with the Parish Council and neighbours. A further revised site layout 
plan was submitted on 30 October 2020 to show the location of 3 no. cypress trees on 
the northern boundary. This application has been referred back to committee to 
ensure that the decision is made in a transparent manner.

1.5 The application seeks full planning permission to construct a detached five-bedroom 
dwelling with vehicular access from the private lane. Off-road parking and turning 
areas would be provided, including a detached double garage in the north-western 
part of the site. The dwelling would be a two-storey pitched roof building with an L-
shape footprint with its principal elevation facing west. It would have a maximum ridge 
height of 8.8 metres with eaves heights of between 4.5-5 metres. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0058/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

1.6 The garage would be a 1.5 storey building with a ridge height of 6 metres and an 
eaves height of 2.4 metres. It would provide space for the parking of two cars at 
ground level with an attic storage space within the roof space above. Some additional 
tree planting is proposed within the site and two passing places would also be 
provided to serve the private drive. One would be adjacent to the proposed garage 
next to the access and the other, to the south east of the site where an existing site 
access appears to be present. 

1.7 There have been two changes to the layout since the application was originally 
considered. The drainage mound has been moved to the south west of the dwelling 
and the dwelling moved some 3 m to the east to maintain a 10 m distance between 
the drainage mound and the dwelling. 

1.8 Reduced copies of the revised site plan are attached at Appendix 2. The elevations 
and floor plans are attached to the original report at Appendix 1. Full copies of the 
plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on the Council’s website 
at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS ON THE MOST RECENT 
INFORMATION. ORIGINAL CONSULTATION RESPONSES ARE INCLUDED IN THE 
REPORT AT Appendix 1.

2.1 Clifton 
Hampden 
Parish Council  

No response to consultation on drainage information.

Original Objection. The access to the property is inadequate

Page 30

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Drainage 
Engineer

Following on from a site meeting with the landowner of Creek End 
in order to address the pluvial flood risk and surface water drainage 
concerns they had and subsequent to the additional information 
submitted, I am now content for my objection to be removed. I have 
no objections to planning permission being granted subject to the
inclusion of the pre-com drainage conditions to secure details in 
respect of surface and foul water drainage.

OCC 
Archaeological 
Services

No objection

Forestry Officer The trees within this site are now subject to a tree preservation 
order (TPO).
The applicant has submitted amended plans. I have no objections 
to the proposed development subject to conditions in respect of 
tree protection and landscaping.

OCC Highways 
Liaison Officer

No objection subject to conditions

SGN Plant 
Protection

No objection.

Additional 
Neighbour 
responses

2 letters in response to FRA maintaining objection to the proposal.

We would strongly suggest that rather than agree planning 
permissions with detailed SuDS requirements it would be much 
better to resolve the root cause of the problem first as this would be 
more efficient and is the only way to ensure that any additional 
flood risk from proposed developments is managed safely without 
risk.

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P17/S1432/PEM – Response (17/07/2017)

Erection of a single detached dwelling and detached garage south of Creek End

P16/S0543/PEM – Response (10/03/2016)
Proposed erection of a single detached dwelling house and detached garage.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Emerging Local Plan 2034 Policies. Adopted December 2020

STRAT1 – The overall strategy
STRAT6 – Green Belt
DES1 – Delivering high quality development
DES2 – Enhancing local character
DES6E  -  Residential amenity
DES11 – Carbon Reduction

Page 31

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1432/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0543/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

ENV1 – Landscape and countryside
ENV3 - Biodiversity Non designated sites, habitats and species
ENV9 – Archaeology and scheduled monuments
ENV11 - Pollution
EP4 – Flood Risk
H8E – infill in smaller villages
H16E – infill development

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan
The Parish of Clifton Hampden are currently preparing a neighbourhood plan. The 
neighbourhood area was formally designated in September 2014. The parish council 
has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging with the local community. 
As the plan remains at an early pre-draft stage is possesses only very limited weight in 
the assessment of this application.

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 This report addresses the new drainage /flooding information. Other aspects of the 

proposal have not changed and are set out in the original report attached at Appendix 
1. The relevant planning considerations at this stage are;

 Drainage information 
 Tree impact
 Other material planning considerations

6.2 Drainage update. Policy EP6 of SOCS requires that wherever practicable developers 
should demonstrate that the surface water management systems on any development 
accords with sustainable drainage principles and should effectively mitigate any 
adverse effects from surface water runoff. 

Emerging Policy INF4 requires all development proposals to demonstrate that there is 
or will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul drainage and sewerage treatment 
capacity to serve the whole development.

The drainage issues and consultation responses from the drainage team were 
incorrectly represented in the original report and officers have sought to rectify the 
matter through the submission of a drainage statement and Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA). Our drainage engineers have also visited the site to assess the new information. 

The FRA has established the following;
 The site wholly falls within flood zone 1 which is defined as land assessed as 

having a less than 1 in 1000 annual probability of river flooding in any one year. 
Development for new dwellings is appropriate in these areas

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

 The site is currently undeveloped and as such has no formal drainage 
associated with it.

 Thames Water wastewater asset plans show there are no public sewers in the 
vicinity of the site.

 Levels vary within the site between 51.66mAOD to the north-western corner and
51.08mAOD to the south-western corner. The maximum fall across the site is 
1.29m over 45m, giving a gradient approx. of 1 in 77.

6.3 A summary of the findings of the FRA is shown below;

6.4 There is no foul sewerage network within the vicinity of the site. It is proposed to install 
a Package Sewage Treatment Plant to BSEN12566-3 that provides primary and
secondary treatment of foul flows before they are discharged to a drainage mound. A
drainage mound is required to maintain a minimum of 1m between the maximum
groundwater level and the distribution pipes.

6.5 The drainage engineer has assessed the information in the FRA and has visited the 
site in order to address the pluvial flood risk and surface water drainage concerns. He is 
now satisfied that the development can go ahead without causing impacts to local 
flooding and has no objection to the proposal subject to conditions to require further 
details in respect of the surface and foul water drainage schemes to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the LPA.

6.6 Tree impact. Policy C9 of SOLP aims to protect important landscape features such as 
trees. Emerging policy ENV1 echoes this aim.

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

There are a number of mature trees located within, and in proximity to the development 
site.  During the earlier stages of the application assessment several individual trees 
and a small area of woodland were placed under a Tree Preservation Order.

The Forestry Officer has no objection to the revised siting of the dwelling nor the 
location of the drainage mound subject to the addition of tree protection and 
landscaping conditions.

6.7 Other material planning considerations. Two neighbours have re-iterated their 
original objections in respect of the drainage issues. I consider that these concerns 
have now been addressed with the submission of the FRA and the support from the 
drainage engineer. 
Comments have also been made in respect of the design and siting of the building. The 
design of the building has not changed since the committee considered the application 
in January where the principle, design, access, neighbour impact etc where found to be 
acceptable. I consider that the design continues to be acceptable.

Whilst the siting of the proposed dwelling has been moved approx. 3 metres to the east, 
I do not consider that this would have a materially greater impact on the amenity of the 
owners of Creek End given the distances involved. In the circumstances I consider that 
the neighbour impact of the development continues to be acceptable.
 

6.8 Pre-commencement conditions. In accordance with S.100ZA of the TCPA 1990, 
agreement with the applicant has been sought for all pre-commencement conditions (6 
conditions). These have been all agreed in writing.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 At the committee meeting on 15 January 2020 members resolved to grant planning 

permission for this proposal because you considered that the principle of providing a 
new dwelling in this location and the details of the application were acceptable. 
The drainage information considered in the original report was incorrect and officers 
sought to rectify the matter through the submission of a drainage statement and FRA. 
The drainage engineer has assessed the information in the FRA and has visited the 
site in order to address the pluvial flood risk and surface water drainage concerns. He is 
now satisfied that the development can go ahead without causing impacts to local 
flooding and has no objection to the proposal subject to conditions to require further 
details in respect of the surface and foul water drainage schemes to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the LPA. In addition the Forestry Officer has no objection to 
the re-siting of the dwelling or the location of the drainage mound.

In the circumstances, I consider that the proposal continues to be acceptable and that 
the grant of planning permission should be confirmed by issuing a decision notice.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions;

Standard conditions;
1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans

Pre commencement conditions;
2 : Construction Traffic Management (details required)
3 : Survey of road and required repairs (prior to commencement)
4 : Site Planting Scheme
5 : Tree Protection (Detailed)

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6 : SW Drainage details required
7 : Foul drainage works (details required)

Compliance conditions; 
8 : Approved plans 
9 : External Materials
10: Parking and Turning

Author:         Sharon Crawford
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0058/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 8.1.2019
PARISH CLIFTON HAMPDEN
WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye
APPLICANT Mr N Mullard & Mrs F Brann
SITE Land to the south of Creek End Abingdon Road 

Burcot, OX14 3DJ
PROPOSAL Proposed erection of a detached five bedroom 

dwelling and a detached double garage.
OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application was deferred from the committee meeting on 2 December 2019 due 

to the meeting guillotine having been reached prior to its consideration.

1.2 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 
Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
inadequate access).

1.3 The application site comprises an area of mostly open grassland set within a wider 
suburban housing development in the rural village of Burcot. The site and village are 
entirely washed over by the Oxford Green Belt. 

1.4 The site lies off a private road to the south of the A415 that also provides shared 
access to a number of mainly domestic properties. The easternmost area of the site is 
populated by a number of mature trees (predominantly oak) and has recently been 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). There are also three Cypress trees 
grouped along the northern boundary, three Cypress trees grouped in the south-
western area of the site and a nearby walnut tree that are also under TPO.

1.5 Residential properties share the northern and eastern boundaries with the private 
drive skirting the western and southern boundaries with other residential properties 
beyond. The buildings in the area are a mixture of historic properties (including Burcot 
House) with late C20 dwellings infilling the land between Burcot House (to the south) 
and the A415 (to the north). There is little uniformity between the scale and design of 
individual buildings or plot layouts. The majority of buildings and plots in the area are 
large, set out in irregular layouts with some pockets of tree planting that have 
remained undeveloped. 

1.5 A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal is to construct a detached five-bedroom dwelling with vehicular access 

from the private lane within the western area of the site. Off-road parking and turning 
areas would be constructed with a detached double garage in the north-western site 
area. The dwelling would be a two-storey pitched roof building set broadly central to the 
site. The dwelling would be set out in an L-shape with its principal elevation facing 
west. It would occupy an external footprint of approximately 215 sq.m providing around 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1

Page 37

Agenda Item 9P19/S0058/FUL

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0058/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

320 sq.m of internal living space across the two floors. It would have a maximum ridge 
height of 8.8 metres with eaves heights of between 4.5-5 metres. 

2.2 The garage would be a 1.5 storey building with a ridge height of 6 metres and an eaves 
height of 2.4 metres. It would occupy a footprint of 53 sq.m with space for the parking of 
two cars at ground level with an attic storage space within the roof space above. Some 
additional tree planting is proposed within the site and two passing places would also 
be provided to serve the private drive. One would be within the north-western site area 
(next to the access) and one to the south-east of the site where an existing site access 
appears to be present. 

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Clifton Hampden Parish Council – Objection.

The access to the property is inadequate;

OCC Archaeological Services – No objection.
The proposals outlined would not appear to have an invasive impact upon any known 
archaeological sites or features and there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme;

Forestry Officer - No objection
Initial concerns were made over the potential impact of the passing place adjacent to 
the site access to damage the roots of a tree on the site. A revised site layout was 
submitted, and no further objection was made. 

SGN Plant Protection - No objection

OCC Highways Liaison Officer - No objection 
Subject to conditions to ensure the new access, off-road parking and turning areas are 
provided and the garage is retained for the parking of vehicles. A Grampian condition 
requiring off-site highway works (i.e. provision of a passing place) is also requested.  

Neighbour responses
Six third party responses were received from neighbouring occupiers as a result of the 
public consultation. Three responses raised objections to the scheme, which have been 
summarised as follows:

 The new dwelling would be too large and should be of a scale akin to the 
building at Creek End;

 The site has been open land in the Green Belt for over 50 years, the site area is 
also over the 0.2ha permitted to be infill development;

 The development conflicts with Section 13 of the NPPF as it would be 
inappropriate development; 

 Allowing this site to be developed (along with the other current planning 
applications) raises significant environmental and biodiversity concerns;

 Trees have been felled within the wider estate, further tree felling should not be 
permitted and the trees in the eastern area of the site should be protected from 
future development;

Page 24Page 38

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

 The additional traffic movements (particularly construction traffic) will cause 
damage to the lane that would be the responsibility of the homeowners to 
repair; 

 Additional traffic would make the accesses onto the A415 more unsafe than 
they currently are and the accesses and road will need to be upgraded and 
made wider to allow two vehicles to pass each other;

 The proposed passing places are too far from the A415 junction and are not 
visible, so vehicles will still have to drive across neighbour’s property to pass 
each other between the site and main road;

 Disagree with the findings of the transport statement as the Tennis Court 
building and current application site have generated little to no traffic for a 
number of years, due to major development along the A415 that road has 
become much busier over recent years;

 The application should be assessed in conjunction with the Tennis Court and 
Chapel applications as the cumulative impacts of all of these developers will 
make impacts more severe; 

 Surface water flooding has occurred in the locality due to run-off from farmland 
to the north and the poor state of the road drainage along the A415. The road 
drainage would need to be upgraded and assurances given that the 
development of Plot 3 would not lead to increased flooding in the future;

 Habitat available to local wildlife would be damaged;
 Below ground utilities and services run through Plot 3 to neighbouring 

properties;
 Many properties that would be affected by the development have not been 

consulted. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0025/FUL – Approved at committee meeting on 2 December 2019  

Proposed conversion of the existing B8 storage building to create 2 x four-bedroom 
dwellings with associated parking and amenity space provision (as amended by 
additional Flood Risk Information received on 24-04-2019 and revised plan received on 
21-06-2019). (Revised Flood Risk Assessment received 4 July 2019).  

P18/S4261/FUL – Approved at committee meeting on 2 December 2019  
Proposed conversion of the de-consecrated chapel to create a two bedroom dwelling 
house with associated parking and amenity space provision.

P17/S3232/FUL - Approved (06/11/2017)
Conversion of existing garage and garage extension. To create annex to property as 
amplified by applicant email dated 6 October 2017.

P17/S1432/PEM – Response (17/07/2017)
1. Proposed conversion of the former tennis court building to create 2 dwellings with 
associated parking and amenity space. 2. Erection of a single detached dwelling and 
detached garage at land to south of Creek End
 
P16/S0543/PEM – Response (10/03/2016)
Proposed erection of a single detached dwelling house and detached garage

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications 

for planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 

Page 25Page 39

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P19/S0025/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4261/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3232/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1432/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0543/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

material considerations. The council’s adopted development plan comprises the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan (SOLP). The relevant polices and supporting guidance are listed below.

5.2 Development Plan:
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies:
 CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – The Overall Strategy;
 CSR1 – Housing in Villages;
 CSEN1 – Landscape; 
 CSEN2 – Green Belt;
 CSQ3 – Design;
 CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 H4 – Housing in villages;
 C6 – Biodiversity;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features;
 D1 – Good design and local distinctiveness;
 D2 – Vehicle and bicycle parking;
 D3 – Outdoor amenity space;
 D4 – Neighbouring amenities;
 G2 – Protecting the district from adverse development; 
 GB4 – Green belt (visual amenity); 
 T1 – Safe access;
 T2 – Parking and turning. 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan:
 The Parish of Clifton Hampden are currently preparing a neighbourhood plan. 

The neighbourhood area was formally designated in September 2014. The 
parish council has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging with 
the local community. As the plan remains at an early pre-draft stage is 
possesses only very limited weight in the assessment of this application. 

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

5.5 National Planning Policy:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.6 Emerging local plan
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 

Page 26Page 40



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The application site is located within a rural village that is washed over by the Oxford 

Green Belt. Therefore, the main issues to consider are as follows:

 The principle of the development having regards to the housing delivery 
and Green Belt policies of the development plan;

 Highways impacts;
 Impact on neighbouring properties;
 Drainage and flood risk;
 Impact on trees

6.2
Principle of development – new housing
Policy CSS1 of the SOCS details the spatial strategy for new development across the 
district during the plan period. It sets out a settlement hierarchy that seeks to direct 
major new development to the growth point of Didcot, with smaller developments 
supported in the main towns and various sizes of village across the district, specifically:

(iv) supporting other villages in the rest of the district by allowing for 
limited amounts of housing and employment and by the provision and 
retention of services; and
(v) outside the towns and villages, and other major developed sites, 
any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as those of 
the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.…

So, the general principle of new residential development is supported if the site is within 
the built-up limits (BuL) of a village. The site is considered to be within the built-up limits 
of Burcot which is defined as a ‘smaller village’ within the SOCS. The site is surrounded 
by existing residential development and even in an undeveloped state the site 
character, and that of the wider area is distinctively that of an upmarket suburban area. 
There is little argument that the site is located in open countryside and I consider the 
broad principle of new housing development in this location is supported by the overall 
development strategy. 

6.3 SOCS policy CSR1 states that new housing will be supported within the ‘smaller 
villages’ providing that it is a form of infill development on sites less than 0.2ha in area 
(equivalent to 5-6 houses). In this case, the Plot 3 site is marginally over 0.2ha in total 
area but, around a third of the eastern area of the site is woodland now under TPO. 
The actual development site is less than 0.2ha. Whilst the proposal is for one large 
house within a spacious plot, I find this would not be out-of-character with the dwelling 
and plot sizes in the locality. SOLP policy H4 states that proposal for new housing 
within the built-up areas of villages will be permitted providing:

i. an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 
nor an important public view spoilt;

ii. the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings;

iii. the character of the area is not adversely affected;
iv. there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
v. if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create problems 

of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the settlement.

Page 27Page 41



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

I do not consider the proposal would conflict with points i or v although it is noted that 
several trees within the site have been placed under Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 
since the submission of the application. The proposal would not directly impact on 
these trees and they are proposed to be retained. The remainder of the site is open and 
flat, predominantly given over to grass. Generally, I consider it would be possible for the 
development to comply with the remaining criteria (although this will be assessed in 
greater detail below. As such, I am satisfied that the general principle of the new 
dwelling in this location is supported by SOCS CSR1 and SOLP policy H4 (subject to 
the more detailed considerations below). 

6.4
Principle of development – Green Belt
The site (and wider village) is within the Oxford Green Belt, where new development is 
strictly controlled. Policy CSEN2 defers to the NPPF for most types of development. 
NPPF Paragraphs 145 and 146 define various types of development that are 
considered to be not inappropriate. In this case, the proposal has potential to be 
included within para. 145(e) as a form of limited infilling within a village. As above, I 
accept the development is an infill site (as it is surrounded by existing residential 
properties) and I accept that as a proposal for one dwelling it is limited in scale. As 
such, I conclude the proposal is a form of not inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt and is supported in general principle by the housing delivery and Green Belt 
policies of the development plan. 

6.5
Highways impacts
SOLP policy H4 seeks to resist new residential development that would result in 
adverse impacts to the safety and operation of the public highway. SOLP policies D2, 
T1 and T2 together seek to ensure that all new development has safe access and 
sufficient off-road parking and turning areas. As stated above, the site is accessed from 
the public highway (A415) by a stretch of private road over a distance of approximately 
110 metres to the site. The Plot 3 site offers more than sufficient space to allow for 
provision of off-road parking and turning areas. As such, I am satisfied the provisions of 
SOLP policies D2 and T2 would be met. 

6.6 However, the existing private road (referred to locally as the ‘Horseshoe Lane’) is not 
well-surfaced, has no pedestrian footway and lacks sufficient width to allow two 
vehicles to pass along much of its length. The Horseshore Lane has two access points 
with the A415. Both are considered to possess good visibility and are set back from the 
carriageway by approximately one car length. Both accesses are bell-mouth designed, 
wide enough to allow a car to enter and exit at the junction with the public highway. 
However, at both the eastern and western access points the private road narrows to a 
single width in close proximity to the access so there would be some potential for 
conflict between vehicles (travelling in opposing directions) at these points. The Plot 3 
site is located in closer proximity to the western access so it is reasonable to expect the 
greatest impact would be to the western half of the Horseshoe Lane. 

6.7 The applicant has submitted a transport assessment to attempt to demonstrate that the 
combined impacts of the two residential developments at the Tennis Court and Plot 3 
sites would not be harmful in comparison to the fall-back position. The vehicle 
movements of the lawful fall-back use(s) of the sites are assessed against the expected 
traffic movements associated with the residential developments and it has been 
concluded the fall-back use has a greater potential to be harmful. The chapel 
conversion development has not been included within the transport assessment but, 
the applicant has concluded that its conversion would not be harmful in addition to the 
greater impacts of the other developments and I do not dispute this view. 

Page 28Page 42



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

6.8 The applicant also acknowledges that the Plot 3 site will generate additional traffic 
movements over and above the fall-back use of that site (as it currently has no 
particular use in planning terms). However, the transport statement reasons that the 
established use of the Tennis Court building (a B8 storage and distribution use) could 
generate a significant number of vehicle movements (including large commercial 
vehicles) if it remained in a business use class. These uses have been assessed 
against the TRICS database, a nationwide dataset that provides a typical traffic 
generation rate for various planning uses in comparative locations across the UK. It is 
suggested by the TRICS data that a B8 use of the Tennis Court building could generate 
up to 25 traffic movements per day, potentially involving larger commercial vehicles. If 
permitted development rights were exercised to change the use of the building into B1 
(office) use this number would be likely to increase.  

6.9 The TRICS data provided by the applicant suggests that two 4-bedroom dwellings 
could generate up to 20 vehicle movements per day (reasonably considered to be 
domestic vehicles). The applicant’s conclusion is that the potential for traffic generation 
from the lawful and permitted uses of the tennis court building would be greater than 
the traffic generation for the proposed residential developments. On that basis, the 
developments are not considered to justify improvements to the Horseshoe Lane or its 
junctions onto Abingdon Road. I do not fully accept that the maximum vehicle 
movements suggested by the TRICS data would realistically materialise over time in 
this location. Burcot is a rural village. Many of the TRICS data examples given are edge 
of town locations so not entirely comparable in my view. The site is located in fairly 
close proximity to Culham Science Centre and the larger settlements of Dorchester-on-
Thames and Berinsfield so some level of potential future commercial use must be 
reasonably accepted. 

6.10 The County Council Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the Transport Statement 
and has offered no objection in terms of the impact of the development on users of the 
public highway. It was informally agreed that the maximum vehicle movements 
(assumed to be generated by the fall-back uses) are unlikely to be realistically reached 
given the rural village location and condition of the private road. However, it was 
acknowledged that commercial storage and business uses are not uncommon in rural 
village locations across the district, so some level of commercial vehicle use is 
accepted. The proposed residential conversions would prevent more intensive 
commercial uses being established which is considered to be to the merit of the 
proposals in terms of highway impacts.

6.11 Notwithstanding the above assessment, negotiations were ongoing with the applicant 
over the specific highway impacts of the Plot 3 development (as assessed on its 
individual site impacts there is no viable fall-back use). A tree in proximity to the original 
access location was also placed under TPO during the early stages of the application 
assessment. As such, a revised site layout plan was submitted. This included the 
creation of additional (and better located) passing places to directly serve the stretch of 
the Horseshoe Lane skirting the site. I note third party objections that suggest the 
proposed passing places are not proposed to be created in the most useful locations 
but, I must accept they are on land within the applicant’s ownership so can realistically 
be constructed. In my view, this is sufficient to mitigate the impact of the new dwelling 
proposed for the Plot 3 site. Planning conditions can be used to ensure they are 
constructed prior to the first occupation of the development. 

6.12 In my view, there is an argument that mitigation can be sought to minimise potential 
damage to the lane during the construction period of the development. If damage is 
caused it appears reasonable to require the private road is reinstated to its condition 
prior to the construction works taking place. Seeking improvements to the lane (over 

Page 29Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

and above its existing condition) would be unreasonable as they are not considered to 
be required to mitigate the development and such a requirement would be straying into 
private, rather than public interests. A construction traffic and environmental 
management plan (CTEMP) can be required (by condition) to be submitted prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

6.13 On balance, I am satisfied that subject to the recommended conditions the 
development would not conflict with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 or SOLP policies 
D1, D2, G2, H4, T1 or T2. 

6.14
Impact on neighbours
Third party concerns have been raised over the impact of the new dwelling on 
neighbouring residential amenities (particularly those of the occupiers of Creek End to 
the north). The SODG sets out minimum separation distances that will preserve privacy 
to neighbouring occupiers. In this case, the separation distances between the proposed 
dwelling at the Plot 3 site and neighbouring dwellings are greatly over the minimum 
recommended distances. The closest neighbouring dwelling at Creek End to the north 
shares a densely vegetated boundary with the site. Some mutual overlooking from 
upper floor windows could occur, but this would be mostly screened by existing trees 
and hedges (proposed to be retained) and would be over more than sufficient 
separation distances. 

6.15 On balance, I am satisfied the proposal would not cause harm to neighbouring 
amenities and it therefore complies with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 and SOLP 
policies D1, D4, G2 and H4.

6.16
Drainage and flood risk
The Plot 3 site is located in Flood Zone 1 and not within an area identified as being at 
risk of surface water flooding (as defined by the Environment Agency flood maps). 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 are located approximately 75 metres to the south. As the site is 
within Flood Zone 1 the NPPF advises that no Flood Risk Assessment is required, and 
most types of development would be acceptable (in terms of flood risk). However, third 
party comments have raised concerns over surface water flooding that has occurred in 
the wider area (the Horseshoe Lane, part of the Plot 3 site and properties at Creek End 
and Burr Wood to the north). It has been stated that floodwater has run-off from 
farmland to the north and has failed to be captured by highway drainage serving the 
A415. Photos were submitted showing part of the Plot 3 site and Horseshoe Lane 
flooded by surface water. 

6.17 I acknowledge that surface water flooding has occurred in the vicinity of the site but, 
this does not appear to be a commonly occurring issue and is not reflected in the EA’s 
surface water flood maps. It is unreasonable to expect a development of the proposed 
scale and location to be able to increase flood risk or to justify off-site mitigation against 
flooding of adjacent land (for example the private lane could have been upgraded 
historically if local landowners had deemed it necessary). The district council’s 
Drainage Engineer has acknowledged the groundwater flood risk in the area but has 
offered no objection to the scheme. Conditions to secure full foul and surface water 
drainage details are requested (along with the use of permeable hard-surfacing 
materials that can be controlled by a separate condition). I consider these to be 
reasonable details to secure as there may be a need to upgrade the existing drainage 
systems to meet the NPPF para. 163 requirements for the use of sustainable drainage 
and flood resilience measures. The development therefore presents an opportunity for 
the flood risk to the site (and adjacent land) to be reduced, in my view. 

Impact on trees

Page 30Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

6.18 There are a number of mature trees located within, and in proximity to the development 
site.  During the earlier stages of the application assessment several individual trees 
and a small area of woodland were placed under TPO. As a result, a revised site layout 
was submitted. The district’s Forestry Officer subsequently offered no further objection 
subject to tree protection and landscaping conditions being attached. The tree 
protection condition to ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees and the 
landscaping condition to ensure that trees are planted to screen the development. I do 
not consider that significant amounts of new tree planting would be required as the 
majority of mature trees to be retained offer a good level of screening but, the new 
passing places may require replacement hedges to be planted so I consider the 
requested conditions to be reasonable and necessary to ensure the development 
complies with SOCS policy CSEN1 and SOLP policies C9, D1, G2 and H4. 

6.19
Other matters
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this case CIL 
would be liable for the construction of the new dwelling and any associated 
outbuildings.  

6.20 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Subject to 
some minor revisions and clarifications the proposal is now considered to be in 
accordance with the development plan and is a sustainable form of development.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 It is recommended that members grant planning permission as the proposed 

development would help to secure additional housing on an infill site within the built-up 
limits of a ‘smaller village’ where some small-scale provision of new housing is 
supported through the spatial development strategy of the development plan. The 
recommended conditions would safeguard future harm to protected trees, the general 
character and appearance of the area and highway safety. The proposed development 
therefore complies with the development plan and is a sustainable development. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions;

1. Three-year time limit; 
2. Approved plans;
3. Construction Traffic and Environmental Management Plan (pre-

commencement);
4. Survey of road and required repairs (prior to commencement); 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a condition 
survey of the access road (that extends from the site to the western access 
point of the ‘Horseshoe Lane’ with the A415) shall be undertaken and submitted 
to the local planning authority. Prior to the occupation of the dwelling a scheme 
to restore the road and verges (to its condition prior to the commencement of 
the development) shall be completed in accordance with a written scheme of 
restoration that shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

Page 31Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policies T1 and EP2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

5. Tree protection; 
6. External materials; 

Construction of the dwelling hereby approved shall not continue above slab 
level until full details of the external materials and finishes to be used in the 
construction of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The written details shall include (as a minimum) 
a photographic example of each material, the material name and 
manufacturer/supplier name. Thereafter the development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure the development is compatible with its surroundings, to 
protect the character and appearance of the conservation area in accordance 
with Policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 
and Policies D1, G2 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

7. Parking and turning; 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the off-road 
parking and turning areas and access road passing places shall be constructed 
in full in accordance with site layout drawing no.S2/P/02 Rev.B and in 
accordance with a written materials specification that shall first be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The written details shall 
include (as a minimum) a photographic example of each material, the material 
name, manufacturer/supplier name and details of the permeability/porousness 
of the material. Thereafter the development shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details and the parking and turning areas shall be retained 
unobstructed except for the intended use at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of off-
street car parking in accordance with policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 Policies D1, D2, T1 and T2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

8. Drainage (prior to occupation);
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until it 
has been connected to drainage systems for both foul and surface water 
disposal, the details of which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The details submitted shall demonstrate how the 
proposed drainage systems will be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
principles. 

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure adequate drainage infrastructure is 
provided in accordance with Policies EP1 and EP6 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 2011. 

9. Site planting scheme;
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until a 
scheme for the planting of trees, shrubs and hedges within the site has been 
carried out in full in accordance with written details that shall first be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The written details 
shall include: 

Page 32Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

- Details of the species, locations and numbers of all trees, shrubs and hedges 
to be planted; 
- written planting and maintenance specifications; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be retained; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be removed. 

In the event of any of the trees, shrubs or hedges planted as part of the 
approved scheme dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 years 
of the completion of the development, a new tree, shrub or hedge of equivalent 
number and species, or of a species and number as first approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, shall be planted and properly maintained in a position or 
positions first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To help to assimilate the development into its surroundings in 
accordance with Policies CSEN1, and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy 2027 and Policies C9, D1 G2, and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2011.

Author:         David Millinship
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 33Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



Rebanks

Grantchester House

TENNIS
COURT

Creek End

Stamford

Cedar

Thames Lodge

Tanglewood

Fair

Cottage

Grange

Little
The Laurels

The Spinney

The

Riverside

House

The

Burcot House

Chapel

Yellowhammer

House

Beeches

Linden House
Gables

Beech

Northfield

Coach House

1

3

Grantchester House
ABINGDON ROAD

54.9m

Marshfield
Yellowhammer

Waterstone House

Rebanks

Ro
se

ma
ry

Withywindle

Pond

Dr
ain

Boat House

-

01/10/15

location plan

first issued

client name

drawing title

1:1250 @ A2

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

descriptiondaterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawn

project title

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

750

15117-L10

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
BURCOT
OXON

AC

Appendix 1

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 8
P

19/S
0058/FU

L

P
age 49

AGould
Textbox

AGould_1
Textbox
LOCATION PLAN 1:1250 @ A3 Proposed Erection of a 5 bed detached dwellinghouse and detached garage Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, Oxon, OX14 3DJ       

AGould_2
Textbox

AGould_3
Textbox

AGould_4
Polyline

AGould_5
Polyline



Appendix 2

P
age 36

P
age 50



P
age 37

P
age 51



P
age 38

P
age 52



P
age 39

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 54



Appendix 2P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

APPLICATION NO. P19/S1927/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 18.6.2019
PARISH WATLINGTON
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Providence Land Limited
SITE Land west of Pyrton Lane, Watlington
PROPOSAL Application for outline planning permission for up to 

60 homes with associated open space and 
sustainable drainage with all matters reserved 

AMENDMENTS As amended / clarified by plans and information 
received 17 September 2020.

OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Development Manager.  

1.2 The Planning Casework Unit (PCU) have received a request from a third party for the 
Secretary of State for Planning at the Department for Communities and Local 
Government to call-in the application.  The PCU is responsible for central Government 
planning matters.  

1.3 As such, should committee wish to approve the application, it must first be referred to 
the PCU for consideration.  The PCU will determine whether the Secretary of State’s 
intervention is needed and if necessary, prepare a submission summarising the 
planning issues for the Secretary of State to decide whether to call in the application 
for his determination.

1.4 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is a 
4.6-hectare agricultural field to the north of Watlington and the south of Pyrton.  There 
is an existing access off Pyrton Lane.  Watlington Primary School and Icknield 
Community College are on the other side of Pyrton Lane to the southeast of the site.  

1.5 The application seeks permission for a residential development of up to 60 homes and 
associated open space and drainage.  The application is submitted in outline with all 
matters reserved.  The matters of layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access 
will be considered later under a ‘reserved matters’ application if outline planning 
permission is granted.  

1.6 The site does not fall within any areas of special designation.  The Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Beauty (AONB) wraps around the south and east of Watlington and its 
closest point is around 600m from the site.  

1.7 Pyrton Conservation Area lies to the north and adjoins the northeast boundary of the 
application site.  This neighbouring land is associated with the Grade II* listed Pyrton 
Manor.  There are several other listed buildings within Pyrton Conservation Area.

1.8 Around 500m to the east of the site is the Grade II Registered Park and Garden 
associated with Shirburn Castle.  There are several Grade II Listed structures within 

Page 57

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1927/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

the grounds and the Castle itself is a Grade I Listed Building.  The Castle and grounds 
are also part of Shirburn Conservation Area.  

1.9 The boundary of Watlington Conservation Area is around 150m to the south of the 
site.  This also contains a number of listed buildings, with the Grade II* Church of St. 
Leonard located closest to the site.   

1.10 Watlington have a “made” Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP).  Amongst 
other matters, the WNDP aims to provide a minimum of 238 new homes and includes 
an indicative route for a re-aligned B4009 to the north and west of the town in order to 
reduce congestion in the town centre, to improve air quality and provide a route for 
some through traffic.    

1.11 The application site is allocated for development in the WNDP.  This site-specific 
policy (Site C) supports proposals for residential development on this site and requires 
the proposal to comply with several amenity and environmental criteria.  

1.12 The application has been submitted in conjunction with another application for up to 
70 homes on the field to the southwest of the site.  This site is also allocated for 
housing in the WNDP (Site B) and is being considered under application reference 
P19/S1928/O.  Together, the proposals for Site B and Site C will link Cuxham Road to 
Pyrton Lane.   

1.13 The main road through the application site and this neighbouring development site 
would form part of the Watlington Edge Road.  The provision of the Edge Road sits at 
the heart of the WNDP and aims to divert traffic around Watlington in order to reduce 
congestion in the town centre and lead to an improvement in air quality.  

1.14 The Edge Road would link the B4009 Britwell Road to the south of Watlington, to the 
B4009 Shirburn Road at the north of the town.  The route of the Edge Road would 
involve several sites which are at various stages in the planning process, as referred 
to in the Planning History section below.      

1.15 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035) safeguards land for the Edge 
Road.  Whereas the WNDP shows one route, the SOLP 2035 shows two options for 
the western section of the road.  The two options have been included at the request of 
Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) who are undertaking an optioneering exercise to 
ascertain which route is preferable.  

1.16 As part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, OCC has secured funding to 
forward fund delivery of parts of the Edge Road beyond the identified development 
sites along it. OCC is preparing a planning application for the road and their current 
ambition is to deliver the road by late 2023 / early 2024.

1.17 At the request of OCC, the applicant submitted an alternative illustrative layout plan.  
This is because the exact route of the road has not yet been finalised.  The plans 
show that, in combination, the application site and the neighbouring development site 
(Site B) could deliver the Edge Road along either of the two options identified for the 
possible route of the road.

1.18 The plans attached as Appendix B show an illustrative layout that would follow the 
Edge Road route that is shown in the WNDP.  It is noted that this application only 
considers the development of the northeast field, as indicated on the location plan.  
The layout is shown with the adjoining proposal to be considered under application 
P19/S1928/O.  

Page 58



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

1.19 The plans attached as Appendix C show the indicative layout utilising the existing 
roundabout at Willow Close for the Edge Road.  This route is not shown in the WNDP 
but is the alternative option being explored by OCC and is shown as safeguarded in 
the SOLP 2035.  

1.20 As the application is submitted in outline, with access as a reserved matter, the 
access point is not a matter to be considered under this application.  The two 
illustrative plans have been submitted to show that this development, in combination 
with the neighbouring development, could be implemented using either of the options 
for the Edge Road.  

1.21 The location of the access would need to be approved through a subsequent reserved 
matters application.  This outline planning application is purely to consider whether the 
site could accommodate up to 60 homes.  

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
A summary of the latest responses received to the proposal is below.  A full copy of all 
the comments made including those in respect of previous iterations of the proposals 
can be seen online at: 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P19/S1927/O

Watlington Parish 
Council 

No objection  
However, Watlington Parish Council notes that the inclusion 
of the additional detail outlining the potential for the edge 
road to route off the Cuxham Road roundabout has been 
submitted at the request of OCC. This illustrative route is at 
variance with the Parish Council’s preferred route as 
detailed in the WNDP. Watlington Parish Council accepts 
that as this is an outline planning application with all matters 
reserved, including access and the route of the edge road, 
there are no grounds to object at this stage.

Cuxham with 
Easington Parish 
Council

Objection   
 Increase in traffic through Cuxham 
 No mitigation proposed for Cuxham 
 Cumulative impact should be considered (including 

Chalgrove strategic site)
 If approved, traffic mitigation should be provided 

through Cuxham and construction traffic should not 
pass through Cuxham

Pyrton Parish Council Objection   
 Application is premature as decisions have not been 

made about Edge Road or the potential expansion of 
Icknield Community College 

 Pyrton Lane not suitable for additional traffic 
 Highway safety risk to pedestrians and cyclists on 

Pyrton Lane 
 Consideration should be given to cumulative traffic 

impacts 
 Increased flood risk and threat of flooding to the 

heritage asset Pyrton Manor

Page 59

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S1927/O
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S1927/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Neighbour 
Representations 

10 in objection raising the following concerns:
 More suitable sites elsewhere
 Needs to be considered on a strategic basis 
 Insufficient infrastructure for further housing 
 Need for additional employment 
 No proven need for Edge Road 
 No further development until Edge Road is open 
 Edge Road not effective alternative to existing route
 Edge Road contrary to Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan
 Coalescence with surrounding villages  
 Urbanisation on edge of small village 
 Impact on Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
 Impact on highway safety
 Impact on heritage assets 
 Overlooking
 Noise pollution 
 Increased flood risk
 Impact of lighting 
 Impact on wildlife
 Disruption during construction 
 Pedestrians would be isolated from the rest of town 
 Should incorporate better links to footpaths 
 New footpath compromises security of existing 

homes

4 with comments:
 Watlington needs more housing – especially 

affordable housing
 Need for the Edge Road to improve air quality 
 Like to see increased buffer zone between two 

estates
 Post box and litter bins required 
 For highway safety, the Edge Road needs to be in 

place before housing
 Willow Close should be used for Edge Road

1 in support:
 Need for more housing and right that Watlington 

accepts its fair share 
 Edge Road should be provided and Pyrton Lane 

should be closed 

Watlington 
Environmental Group 

Observations
 Must demonstrate that water sources are protected 

and a net gain in biodiversity is achieved
 Drainage strategy should maximise biodiversity
 Habitats should be linked 

Watlington Climate 
Action Group 

Objection 
 Plans for housing should be reconsidered due to 

climate emergency 
 Adverse environmental impacts of housebuilding

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

 Loss of countryside
 Should adopt an exemplary standard 

Chilterns 
Conservation Board 

No objection 
 Lighting should be an exemplar of good practice to 

conserve and enhance night sky tranquillity of the 
Chilterns 

 Important that the landscaping breaks up the layout 
and the development avoids a hard-urban edge  

 Lower density development to the edges is 
welcomed

 Fewer dwellings would lessen the impact on the 
wider setting of the AONB

Southern Gas 
Network 

No objection   
 Set out requirements for working around gas pipes

Thames Water No objection   
 Subject to a condition requiring either network 

upgrades or agreement of a phasing plan 

Crime Prevention 
Design Advisor 

No objection   
 Provided guidance on preventing crime through 

design

Oxfordshire County 
Council Single 
Response 

Transport Development Control
No objection 

 Subject to conditions requiring a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan and a Green Travel Plan

 Legal agreement required to secure financial 
contributions towards highways infrastructure and 
highway works

 The proposal would not prejudice the route of the 
Watlington Edge Road and would provide a 
significant element of it

 Swept path analysis of Pyrton Lane demonstrates 
that two large cars can pass along its entirety 

 Signage strategy for Pyrton Lane would deter HGV 
use

 The road layout would bypass the S-bends on Pyrton 
lane

 The Planning Inspector’s decision for Site A is 
permissive of increased use of Pyrton Lane

 Town centre mitigation proposed for Site A would 
accommodate traffic impact arising from the 
proposed development

Lead Local Flood Authority
No objection

Education 
No objection

 Legal agreement required to secure a financial 
contribution towards schools and the transfer of land 

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

to facilitate the potential expansion of Icknield 
Community College 

Archaeology 
No comments 

Housing Development 
Officer 

No objection   
 Set out requirements for affordable housing 

Air Quality Officer No objection   
 Development would provide part of edge road and 

would incorporate minimum best practice air quality 
mitigation measures

 Edge Road is a real opportunity to enhance and 
improve local air quality in Watlington 

Conservation Officer No objection   
 Development likely to result in low level harm to the 

setting of heritage assets and should be outweighed 
by public benefits

 A detailed lighting strategy can be agreed at 
reserved matters stage to manage the impacts of 
light pollution

Countryside Officer No objection 
 Subject to conditions requiring a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan for biodiversity and 
a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 

 Habitats on site not a constraint to development
 Possible to achieve a net gain in biodiversity 

Forestry Officer No objection 
 Subject to conditions requiring tree and hedge 

protection and the approval of a landscaping scheme 
and management

Urban Design Officer No objection    
 Provided comments on detailed design matters to be 

taken into consideration at reserved matters stage

Drainage Officer No objection 
 Subject to conditions requiring approval of surface 

water and foul water drainage schemes

Contaminated Land 
Officer 

No objection 
 The submitted assessment does not identify any 

significant sources of contamination 

Environmental Health 
Officer 

No objection 
 Subject to condition requiring noise assessment and 

mitigation

Page 62



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 There is no planning history for this site.  However, there are applications on nearby 

sites that are relevant to the extent that they include proposals for the Edge Road:

- As referred to above, there is a current outline planning application on the adjoining 
field to the southwest of the site, known as ‘Site B’.  This application 
(P19/S1928/O) for up to 70 homes is also being considered at the committee 
meeting on 13 January 2021. 

- The land to the west of Cuxham Road is allocated for housing in the WNDP as 
‘Site A’ and has planning permission for 183 homes under application reference 
P17/S3231/O, which was allowed at appeal.  This development will directly deliver 
a section of the Edge Road and provide a financial contribution to the sections that 
OCC would deliver.  The route of the Edge Road would follow the route shown in 
the WNDP.  

- Planning application P19/S4585/O is for a similar proposal on Site A and is 
pending a decision.  This would provide an alternative route for the Edge Road via 
the existing roundabout that serves Willow Close.   

- The field to the east of the application site has a pending planning application for 
the erection of up to 100 homes under application reference P16/S2576/O.  A 
recommendation has not yet formed in relation to this proposal. 

- The brownfield site on the corner of Shirburn Road and Pyrton Lane has planning 
permission for a care home and 37 retirement units through application references 
P18/S0002/O and P19/S2380/RM.  This site would not deliver a section of the 
Edge Road but, as a requirement of the planning permission, would require land to 
be passed to OCC to enable OCC to construct a roundabout to link the Edge Road 
to Shirburn Road.    

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The council issued a Screening Opinion for this proposal under reference 

P18/S3934/SCR in January 2019.  This confirmed that an Environmental Impact 
Assessment is not required.  All issues are of local significance only and can be 
examined through the normal planning process

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan consists of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035, which was adopted on 10 December 2020.  Watlington’s 
Neighbourhood Development Plan also forms part of the Development Plan.  

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035 
The relevant policies in the SOLP 2035 include policy TRANS3, which specifies land 
safeguarded for strategic transport schemes, including land for a bypass for Watlington.  
The safeguarded route is shown on the map below:

Page 63



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Other relevant policies are:
STRAT1 – The overall strategy
STRAT2 – Housing and employment requirements 
STRAT5 – Residential densities 
H1 – Delivering new homes 
H9 – Affordable housing 
H11 – Market mix 
INF1 – Infrastructure provision 
TRANS1b – Supporting strategic transport investment 
TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 
TRANS5 – Consideration of development proposals
INF4 – Water resources 
ENV1 – Landscape and countryside 
ENV2 – Designated sites, priority habitats and species
ENV3 – Biodiversity 
ENV5 – Green infrastructure in new developments 
ENV6 – Historic environment 
ENV7 – Listed buildings 
ENV8 – Conservation areas 
ENV12 – Pollution 
EP1 – Air quality 
EP3 – Waste collection and recycling 
EP4 – Flood risk 
DES1 – Delivering high quality development 
DES2 – Enhancing local character 
DES3 – Design and access statements 
DES4 – Masterplans for allocated sites and major development 
DES6 – Residential amenity 
DES8 – Efficient use of resources 
DES9 – Promoting sustainable design 
DES10 – Carbon reduction 
CF5 – Open space, sport and recreation in new residential development 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP)
The Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP) 2017 – 2033 allocates 
three housing sites in an arc north and west of the town.  These will deliver a minimum 
of 238 new homes over the plan period. The WNDP also shows a route for an edge 
road to reduce the volume of traffic in the town centre and lead to an improvement in air 
quality.  

The map below is taken from the WNDP and shows the allocated housing sites (A, B 
and C) and an indicative route for an edge road:

The WNDP is a made Plan and therefore carries full weight. Other relevant policies are:

Watlington Housing Policy: Site C – Land off Pyrton Lane 
P1 – Protect and enhance the character and the historic setting of the town
P2 – Transport 
P3 – Conserve and enhance the natural environment 
P5 – New housing development 

5.2 Pyrton also have a Neighbourhood Development Plan covering their Parish to the 
northeast of the site.  The policies in the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan that relate to 
heritage assets and landscape matters are relevant to this proposal.  However, they do 
not add anything additional to the relevant policies in the SOLP 2035 and WNDP 
insofar as the matters to be considered under this application.    

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG) (November 2016)
Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998

Page 65



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:

 The principle of the development

 Matters of detail / technical issues:
- affordable housing and housing mix,
- traffic impact and highway safety,
- air quality,
- landscape and character,
- heritage,
- trees and ecology,
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination).

 Infrastructure requirements:
- infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

6.2

The principle of the development 

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The Development Plan for South Oxfordshire is the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035).  

6.3 The policies of the SOLP 2035 that are of most relevance to the principle of the 
development are those that seek to direct new development to sustainable locations.  
This is achieved through a hierarchical approach in policy STRAT1, complemented by 
policy H1 which supports the delivery of housing on sites that are allocated by 
Neighbourhood Development Plans.  

6.4 The Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP) also forms part of the 
Development Plan.  The site is allocated for housing in the WNDP as “Site C” and as 
such, the principle of the development is acceptable, and the proposal accords with the 
relevant policies in the Development Plan.       

6.5 In terms of detail, the WNDP states that it is anticipated that the site will yield 
approximately 60 dwellings, which is in line with this proposal.  The policy for housing 
on Site C also requires the development to comply with several amenity and 
environmental considerations.  These are considered in the relevant sections of this 
report and are set out in the bullet points below: 

 They conform to the principles set out in the Watlington Design Guide
 They are landscape-led and are appropriate for their location within the setting 

of the Chilterns AONB. All proposals should demonstrate that they have 
addressed site layout, design, orientation, height, bulk and scale of structures 
and buildings. In addition, careful consideration should be given to the use of 

Page 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

colours, materials and the reflectiveness of surfaces in relation to the proximity 
of the site to the AONB. Careful consideration should be given to the use of 
street lights and other forms of external illumination to safeguard the dark night 
skies of the AONB

 They provide affordable dwellings to development plan standards
 They are designed in a way which takes account of heritage assets in the wider 

locality of the site
 They provide land to safeguard the route for a re-aligned B4009
 They accommodate any identified needs for expanding the primary school or 

the secondary school into the site
 They provide a suitable buffer zone between housing development and the 

Pyrton Manor estate
 They provide land for formal and informal recreation use and open space in

accordance with development plan standards
 They provide space for an informal recreation area
 They create connectivity with the existing Marlbrook development, town centre 

and the countryside
 They are designed so that the built edge of the development blends into the 

landscape to the north and west and mitigates the impact of the development on 
views from the AONB

 They provide for any necessary traffic mitigation measures
 They deliver a well-balanced mix of housing types, including needs identified in 

the most recent Watlington Housing Study
 They include measures to provide resilience to the effects of climate change

6.6

Matters of detail / technical issues

Affordable housing and housing mix

The application documents state that 40 percent of the proposed homes will be 
affordable.  This complies with policy H9 of the SOLP 2035 in terms of the overall 
amount of affordable housing.  

6.7 In terms of the tenure of this 40 percent, the council’s Housing Development team 
commented on this application prior to the adoption of the SOLP 2035 and suggested a 
mix which accorded with the affordable housing policy in the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy (SOCS).  The SOCS policy (policy CSH3) required a tenure mix of 75 percent 
social rented and 25 percent shared ownership.  

6.8 Policy H9 of the SOLP 2035 requires a tenure mix of 40 percent affordable rented, 35 
percent social rented and 25 percent other affordable routes to home ownership.  The 
council’s Housing Development team will be preparing new comments on the 
application based on the requirements of SOLP 2035 policy H9 and officers will provide 
an update at the committee meeting.  

6.9 The affordable units will need to be distributed evenly across the site to avoid large 
clusters and must be indistinguishable from the market housing.   Subject to the 
affordable homes being secured through the provisions of a Section 106 legal 
agreement, the proposal will provide homes to meet the needs of the district in 
compliance with policy P5 of the WNDP and the requirement for Site C to provide 
affordable dwellings in accordance with Development Plan standards.  

6.10 In terms of market housing, the mix can be secured through a condition requiring the 
mix to be informed by the most up-to-date housing needs assessment.  This would 

Page 67



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

ensure that the development of the site accords with the criteria for Site C to deliver a 
well-balanced mix of housing types, including needs identified in the most recent 
Watlington Housing Study. 

6.11

Traffic impact and highway safety

Watlington’s narrow streets are under extreme pressure from vehicles passing through 
the town, severely detracting from its historic character, harming living conditions and 
creating a hostile pedestrian environment.  The Edge Road would help to relieve this 
situation.

6.12 This proposal, in combination with the development of the adjoining Site B, will play an 
important role in providing part of the Edge Road.  The Edge Road through the 
application site and site B will be delivered by the developer.  The other stretches of the 
route will be delivered through a combination of direct delivery by developers, 
developer contributions and construction by OCC.  

6.13 The nearby Site A has planning permission with potential for the Edge Road to be 
provided to Cuxham Road where it would join with Site B along the route shown in the 
WNDP.  There is also a planning application with an alternative scheme for Site A 
which is pending a decision.  This would provide a potential alternative route for the 
Edge Road via the existing roundabout at Willow Close.  

6.14 The illustrative plans submitted with this application show that the layout of the 
application site could be arranged to accommodate the Edge Road in the location 
shown in the WNDP (as shown in Appendix B).  The illustrative plans also show that 
the site could be accessed off the Willow Close roundabout with the Edge Road 
following the alternative route that is being considered by OCC (as shown in Appendix 
C).  

6.15 As this is an outline planning application with access reserved for consideration later, 
the access points are not fixed and are for illustrative purposes only.  The illustrative 
plans have demonstrated that the development of the site would not prejudice or 
prejudge the route of the Edge Road.  If this application progresses positively, the exact 
position of the access, and the route of the Edge Road, will be determined under a 
reserved matters application.  

6.16 In terms of traffic impact, the submitted Traffic Assessment has considered various 
scenarios including provision and part provision of the Edge Road.  With the entire 
Edge Road in place and open to traffic the development traffic would have an 
acceptable impact on local junctions.  The assessment shows that with just the element 
of the road through Site B and the application site open, that there would be a 
negligible impact on local junctions.  

6.17 The highways officer at OCC commented that the junction assessments in these 
scenarios were reassuring.  However, he initially raised concern that there was no 
assessment of the impact on Pyrton Lane, which is a narrow rural lane.  

6.18 To the south, Pyrton Lane has two very tight bends with limited forward visibility.  The 
provision of the route through the application site and Site B would by-pass the 
southern part of Pyrton Lane, including the tight bends.

6.19 The north of Pyrton Lane is straight and the element of the Edge Road within the site 
would meet Pyrton Lane at the eastern corner of the application site.  The point where 

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

the road within the application site meets Pyrton Lane is the same for the both routes 
for the Edge Road that are being explored by OCC.  

6.20 In order to address the highway officers concern about there being no assessment of 
the impact on Pyrton Lane, the applicant submitted a swept path analysis.  This 
demonstrated that two large cars (4 x 4s) are able to pass within the carriageway along 
its entirety.  The proposals also include a signage strategy for Pyrton Lane to deter 
HGV use and warn of narrowing in the carriageway.          

6.21 In addition, traffic mitigation measures were secured as a requirement of the 
development that was approved at appeal on Site A (P17/S3231/O).  This included 
parking restrictions in the town centre until such a time as the Edge Road is open to 
traffic.  

6.22 The traffic modelling that was considered for the appeal at Site A took account of 
housing developments expected to be delivered in the next five years, which included 
the application site and Site B.  The Planning Inspector who determined the appeal 
concluded that up until at least 2024, the effects of the development can be mitigated 
with a positive effect on traffic flows through the town centre and a negligible effect on 
flows along Pyrton Lane.       

6.23 Although these measures are likely to be implemented through the development of Site 
A, there is no guarantee that this will be the case.  As such, it is necessary for the town 
centre traffic mitigation that was agreed for Site A to be secured under the legal 
agreement for this application.  It is acknowledged that the town centre mitigation 
measures are an interim solution, in advance of the completion of the Edge Road.   

6.24 As time progresses, there is increased confidence about the delivery of the Edge Road.  
Funds are available as part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal for OCC to 
forward fund parts of the Edge Road that are beyond identified development sites.  
OCC are continuing their optioneering exercise to confirm the exact route of the road 
and their current ambition is to deliver the road by late 2023 / early 2024.  The 
safeguarding of the whole of the route has also gained weight following the adoption of 
the SOLP 2035.  

6.25 In accordance with the decision taken on Site A, the application proposals are 
considered to have an acceptable impact on the highway network.  Subject to 
appropriate travel planning and a contribution towards public transport, the location of 
the site is considered relatively accessible and does not raise concerns of sustainability.  

6.26 The proposals would provide land to safeguard the route for a re-aligned B4009 and 
would also provide for any necessary traffic mitigation measures, in accordance with 
the requirements for the development of Site C in the WNDP.  In terms of the stipulation 
to create connectivity with the existing Marlbrook development, town centre and the 
countryside, the illustrative plans show that all opportunities have been taken to 
integrate new footpaths into the surrounding footpath network.  Linkages to the rural 
footpaths cannot be secured as part of the application as this would require 
development outside of the application site boundary.

6.27 Subject to the completion of a legal agreement and relevant conditions, the proposal 
would also comply with the relevant Development Plan policies.  This includes policies 
TRANS2 and TRANS5 of the SOLP 2035, which seek to promote sustainable transport 
and accessibility and create appropriate conditions for all users of the highway.  

Page 69



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6.28

Air quality

The traffic pressures on the Town Centre that cause congestion also have a negative 
impact on air quality.  The air pollution problem in Watlington is based on congestion 
levels in an area of narrow streets and relatively high sided buildings creating a ‘street 
canyon’ effect with pollutants unable to disperse effectively.   

6.29 Watlington Town Centre is one of three Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) within 
South Oxfordshire.  AQMAs are designated when the levels of pollutants in the air have 
reached those identified by the government as harmful to health and are in breach of 
what is called the ‘national air quality objectives.’  

6.30 The council’s air quality officer is supportive of the Edge Road as it is a real opportunity 
to enhance and improve local air quality in line with the principles in the NPPF.  The 
proposal would directly deliver part of the Edge Road and also contribute to off-site 
sections through a financial contribution.  

6.31 The proposals would also incorporate air quality mitigation measures including electric 
vehicle charging points, sustainable travel packs, cycle storage and gas boilers to a 
specified standard.  These measures can be secured via a condition.  

6.32 The proposal would therefore comply with policies ENV12 and EP1 of the SOLP 2035, 
which require developments to be located and designed so that they do not have 
adverse impacts on human health and include measures to minimise air pollution.   
 

6.33

Landscape and character

Whilst the site lies outside of the Chilterns AONB, it is within its setting.  Section 85 of 
the Countryside and Rights of Way Act requires regard to be paid to the purposes of 
conserving and enhancing AONBs.  The terminologies are slightly different but policy 
ENV1 of the SOLP 2035 and para.172 of the NPPF seek broadly similar objectives.   

6.34 The town of Watlington and its relationship with the surrounding rural areas is visible in 
the panoramic views from Watlington Hill, which is within the AONB.  These views are 
impressive and much public benefit is derived from this open access National Trust site.  
Watlington as a settlement nestles within these views and this relationship contributes 
to the special qualities of this part of the AONB.  

6.35 Development on the edge of Watlington should therefore be treated with great care as 
it has the potential to erode and harm the setting of the AONB.  The design and 
location of both the proposed lighting and green infrastructure elements are particularly 
important in terms of the impact on the setting of the AONB.  When combined these 
considerations impact upon wider views from within the AONB, especially when looking 
down from the higher ground at Watlington Hill. 

6.36 Given that the site is within an intrinsically dark sky location, the lighting strategy should 
seek to achieve an exemplary design standard.  To safeguard the dark night skies of 
the AONB, lighting should only be used where and when needed and should be the 
minimum required.  Lighting details can be secured via a condition.       

6.37 One of the requirements for this site in the WNDP is that the proposals are designed so 
that the built edge of the development blends into the landscape and mitigates the 
impact of the development on views from the AONB.  The indicative layout shows that it 
will be possible to incorporate significant landscaping at the rural edges of the site, 
avoiding a hard-urban edge.  

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6.38 The low density of the development will allow for the incorporation of street trees and 
green spaces within the built-up element of the development.  These factors will help 
achieve a pattern of development that fits with the grain of Watlington.  A future 
reserved matters application will need to demonstrate a strong landscape-led approach.  

6.39 The detailed scale, design and appearance of the development will be considered at 
reserved matters stage.  Materials will need to be carefully considered, and as required 
by the WNDP, the proposal will need to conform to the principles set out in the 
Watlington Design Guide.  

6.40 The details submitted with this outline application demonstrate that the site can 
accommodate the level of development proposed whilst conserving and enhancing the 
setting of the AONB.  This accords with the above Development Plan policies, including 
the relevant criteria in the WNDP.  
 

6.41

Heritage

There are no designated heritage assets on the site, however it sits in the setting of 
several assets: Pyrton Manor and Pyrton Conservation Area, Watlington Conservation 
Area and St Leonard’s Church and Shirburn Castle Registered Park and Garden and 
Shirburn Conservation Area.  The WNDP highlights the need for the proposal to be 
designed in a fashion that respects heritage assets in the wider locality of the site.  

6.42 In considering whether to grant planning permission, the statutory test in section 66 (1) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the 
decision maker to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of 
listed buildings.  In relation to conservation areas, section 72 (1) of the Act requires 
special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
and appearance of that area.  

6.43 The application site sits to the southwest of Pyrton Conservation Area immediately 
adjoining the boundary and the parkland of Pyrton Manor House.  Whilst visibility 
between the application site and the grounds around Pyrton Manor is limited, the 
experience of moving around the open parkland and along Pyrton Lane will be altered 
by the introduction of the proposed development. 

6.44 The presence of built form will erode the open rural character of the existing setting to 
the Pyrton Conservation Area which is most notable as you travel along Pyrton Lane 
and into the village from the south-eastern edge.  This impact will be most noticeable at 
night with the introduction of increased street-lighting and general light pollution from 
the development and movement of vehicles. 

6.45 The proposed lighting strategy suggests that light levels would be no more than 
necessary and designed to reflect the low-light area and proximity to the AONB.  
Lighting details can be secured via a condition and, as referred to above, should seek 
to achieve an exemplary design standard.  

6.46 The council’s conservation officer has concluded that the proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the Pyrton heritage assets.  As required by 
paragraph 196 of the NPPF, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal.  

6.47 There will be several benefits associated with the proposed development including the 
significant benefits of the delivery of housing, and particularly much needed affordable 

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

housing.  Furthermore, this housing will be delivered on an allocated site, which has 
been through the plan led process, including a public referendum.  Through this 
process, the allocated sites have been determined as being the most appropriate 
location for growth at Watlington.  

6.48 The proposal will also deliver part of the route of the Edge Road.  The benefits that 
would amount from this element of the proposal include easing the traffic pressures in 
the town centre and a resultant improvement in air quality.  Reducing congestion in the 
town centre will also have a positive impact on its historic character and improve the 
pedestrian environment.   

6.49 The level of harm to the heritage assets within Pyrton will be at the lower end of the 
scale.  The public benefits that would result from the proposed development will, in the 
opinion of council officers, outweigh the harm.   

6.50 It is also noted that the Inspector who examined the SOLP 2035 considered the 
Watlington Edge Road in depth and held a separate hearing session on it.  Although 
the specific impact of this application was not considered at the hearing, it is relevant in 
so far that the development will include a section of the Edge Road.  In his report on the 
SOLP 2035, the Inspector comments that:
 

‘The historic buildings of Pyrton would be well away from the route of the edge road 
with a considerable amount of intervening greenspace which could be reinforced 
through the design of the road, and the safeguarding has been realigned so that it is 
further from the setting of the Manor in Pyrton’.

6.51 In terms of the impact on other heritage assets, the application site is separated from 
Watlington Conservation Area by existing 20th Century housing at Willow Close which 
also creates a barrier between the site and St Leonard’s Church.  The experience of 
the Watlington Conservation Area and the setting of the church will not be detrimentally 
impacted as this will essentially exacerbate an existing situation of modern 
development on what was the historic settlement edge.

6.52 Further to the north is Shirburn Castle, the Registered Park and Garden and Shirburn 
Conservation Area. There is far greater separation between these assets and the 
application site.  Whilst there may be some additional light pollution arising from the 
development as experienced from these assets, this is much more closely read 
alongside the existing situation and will have a negligible impact on the overall 
significance of the designated heritage assets at Shirburn.

6.53 Overall, the public benefits of the development will outweigh the low-level harm to 
heritage assets.  The proposal accords with the relevant Development Plan policies 
which seek to conserve and enhance heritage assets and their settings for their 
important contribution to local distinctiveness, character and sense of place.  This 
includes policies ENV6, ENV7 and ENV8 of the SOLP 2035.  The development also 
accords with the relevant heritage criteria under the requirements for Site C in the 
WNDP and policy P1, which required development to respect the local and historic 
character of Watlington.     

6.54 In relation to archaeology, the County Council Archaeologist has confirmed that there 
are no known archaeological constraints to the development.  

Page 72



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6.55

Trees and ecology

In relation to trees, there are trees that are located adjacent to the southern boundary 
of the site that are protected by a Tree Preservation Order.  The trees within Pyrton 
Conservation Area to the north are also protected by virtue of being within this 
designated area.  

6.56 The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Report including a Tree Survey, 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan.  Subject to the 
implementation of tree and hedge protection measures, the council’s forestry officer is 
satisfied that the proposal will have an acceptable impact on trees.  The proposal 
therefore accords with policy ENV1 of the SOLP 2035 in this respect.    

6.57 With regards to ecology, the council’s ecologist has confirmed that the development is 
unlikely to have impacts on protected or priority species.  It is also possible for this site 
to achieve a net gain in biodiversity.  The proposal therefore complies with SOLP 2035 
policies ENV2 and ENV3.  

6.58

Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents

Given the distance to neighbouring properties, the proposal would not result in any 
adverse impacts on neighbouring amenity in terms of a loss of loss of light, overlooking 
or an overbearing impact.  In accordance with the relevant criteria in the WNDP, the 
indicative plans show that the proposals could be provided with a suitable buffer zone 
between the housing development and the Pyrton Manor estate.  

6.59 In terms of the amenity of future residents, this will be assessed at reserved matters 
stage when the details of the development are available.  The proposals would need to 
comply with relevant standards in relation to separation distances and garden sizes.  

6.60 The council’s environmental protection officer has commented about the potential for 
noise from the Edge Road to impact on future residents.  He has requested an acoustic 
assessment of road traffic and, if necessary, mitigation measures to protect the 
dwellings from the external noise environment.  This can be secured via a condition.   

6.61

Environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination)

The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding).  The council’s 
drainage engineer has considered the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and has 
raised no objection to the development subject to conditions to secure appropriate 
surface and foul water drainage schemes.  

6.62 Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing 
foul water network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of the development 
proposal.  Thames Water have therefore requested a condition requiring no properties 
to be occupied until all wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate the 
additional flows from the development have been completed, or a housing and 
infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed.  This requirement can be added to the 
foul water drainage condition.   

6.63 The submitted Phase 1 Ground Condition Assessment, does not identify any significant 
sources of contamination and only a very low risk is attributed to the site.  Following a 
review of Environmental Health records, the council’s contaminated land officer has 
confirmed that no further site investigations are required.  

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6.64

Infrastructure requirements 

Infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement

Where necessary, on-site and off-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal 
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).  A S106 legal agreement would secure the on-site affordable housing, open 
space, and play. 

6.65 The extent of open space and land for recreation use will be detailed on a reserved 
matters application.  The illustrative plans show that a generous amount of open space 
can be accommodated on site, to meet Development Plan standards.  Details of a play 
area can be submitted as a condition.  As such, the proposal meets the relevant criteria 
in the WNDP for the development of Site C.  

6.66 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document, the following index linked financial contributions would be required towards 
on-site infrastructure:

- £186 per dwelling towards the provision of recycling / refuse bins
- £229 per 10 dwellings towards street naming and numbering 
- £306 per dwelling towards the provision of public art 
- £3,106 administration and monitoring fee

6.67 OCC also require contributions / obligations to mitigate the impact of the development 
on the functions that they operate.  In this case, the development will impact on local 
education needs and the local highway network, both of which fall within their remit.  

6.68 In relation to education, there is insufficient capacity to accommodate the expected 
increase in demand from housing growth in the area, including this application, for early 
years education and secondary education.  The applicant has agreed to the following 
contributions to expand the capacity serving the site and to mitigate the impact of this 
development:  

- £69,926 towards early years education
- £319,605 towards secondary education 

6.69 Land is also required to facilitate the expansion of Icknield Community College and this 
can be secured through the provisions of the legal agreement.  The field to the rear of 
Icknield Community College is in the same ownership as the application site and the 
applicant has agreed to transfer the required land to OCC.  As such, this proposal will 
deliver an acceptable solution to accommodate the identified needs for expanding the 
secondary school, in accordance with the relevant requirement in the WNDP for the 
development of Site C.       

6.70 With regards to highways, the following contributions / obligations have been agreed to 
mitigate the impact of the development:

- £7,000 per dwelling contribution towards Watlington Edge Road 
- £1,000 per dwelling towards public transport services 
- £1,200 for travel plan monitoring 
- Provision of spine road to specification of Watlington Edge Road
- Off-site highway works including signage and town centre mitigation (if not already 

implemented through development at Site A)

Page 74



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

- Public transport infrastructure TBC (dependant on final layout – S106 to include a 
maximum amount)

- Public rights of way improvements TBC (dependant on final layout – S106 to 
include a maximum amount)

- £3,750 administration and monitoring fee 

6.71 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy INF1 of the SOLP 
2035 which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they 
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  

6.72

Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in 2016.  This enables 
money to be collected from certain types of development to be pooled together with 
other developments to fund a wide range of infrastructure to support growth, including 
schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.    

6.73 The development is CIL liable at a rate of £150 per sq.m (index linked from 2016 and 
as of December 2020 £182.18 per sq.m), although relief can be claimed for the 
affordable housing.  Under the CIL Regulations, Watlington Parish Council will receive 
25 percent of the CIL collected to spend on infrastructure that is a priority to the 
community.  

6.74

Other matters 

In accordance with policy H11 of the SOLP 2035, a percentage of dwellings should be 
designed to meet the Building Regulations Part M requirement of accessible and 
adaptable dwellings and wheelchair accessible dwellings.  There is also a requirement 
in the SOLP 2035 for some of the dwellings to meet Nationally Described Space 
Standards.  These matters can be secured through conditions.  

6.75 In relation to climate change, there is a requirement in the WNDP for this site to include 
measures to provide resilience to the effects of climate change.  Policy DES10 of the 
SOLP 2035 also requires new development to meet specific requirements to reduce 
carbon.  To secure suitable measures, an Energy Statement can be secured through a 
condition.  This requirement reflects the importance of climate change following 
updates to the NPPF, as well as the council’s declared climate emergency 
and associated motion to aim to reach net-zero carbon emissions for the whole district 
by 2030.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application site is allocated for residential development within the Development 

Plan.  The proposal will deliver a variety of housing to help meet housing needs and will 
have further significant benefits in that it will provide a section of the Watlington Edge 
Road and contribute towards parts of the road that are outside of the development site.

7.2 The details provided with this outline planning application indicate that a scheme for up 
to 60 homes can be accommodated on the site in a manner that will have an 
acceptable impact on landscape character, ecology, trees and heritage assets.  All 
technical issues can be addressed by conditions.

Page 75



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

7.3 Details of the development will be considered at reserved matters stage and this 
includes layout, scale appearance and landscaping.  Details of the access will also be 
considered at reserved matters stage and the applicant has demonstrated that the site 
could be laid out to accommodate either of the options for the route of the Edge Road.  

7.4 When considered against the Development Plan as a whole, the proposal represents a 
sustainable form of development and there are no valid reasons to withhold outline 
planning permission.  

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 It is recommended that authority to grant outline planning permission is 

delegated to the head of planning subject to:

i) Referral to the National Casework Unit;

ii) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the 
affordable housing, financial contributions and other obligations 
stated above, and

iii) The following conditions:

Reserved matters (inc. details to be submitted), time limit and approved plans
1. Submission of reserved matters 
2. Reserved matters to be submitted within three years
3. Commencement 
4. Approved plans 
5. No more than 60 dwellings
6. Market mix 
7. Details to be submitted with condition 1:

- energy statement
- details of roads, accesses, footpaths and services
- schedule of external materials 
- vehicle and cycle parking facilities 
- waste and recycling facilities
- boundary treatments  
- details of all street furniture
- existing and proposed ground levels 
- maintenance schedule and long-term management plan for soft 

landscaping

Pre-commencement
8. Phasing plan 
9. Details of off-site highway works 
10. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
11. Green Travel Plan 
12. Lighting plan
13. Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity 
14. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 
15. Tree and hedge protection 
16. Surface water drainage scheme 
17. Foul water drainage scheme (including Thames Waters requirements)
18. Noise from Edge Road and any necessary mitigation

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Prior to Occupation 
19. Access provision 
20. Pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access
21. Details of play areas and timetable for implementation 
22. Air quality mitigation measures 
23. Superfast broadband connectivity

Compliance conditions 
24. Hours of construction 
25. At least 15% of market housing to meet Part M (4) Category 2
26. At least 5% of affordable housing to meet Part M (4) Category 3
27. All affordable housing and 1 and 2 bed market housing to meet Nationally 

Described Space Standards 

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix A  

Location Plan  

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 10P19/S1927/O



P
age 80

SAV_EMMBOW
Typewriter
Appendix B 



P
age 81

SAV_EMMBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix C 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

APPLICATION NO. P19/S1928/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 18.6.2019
PARISH WATLINGTON
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Providence Land Limited
SITE Land off Cuxham Road, Watlington
PROPOSAL Application for outline planning permission for up to 

70 homes with associated open space and 
sustainable drainage with all matters reserved 

AMENDMENTS As amended / clarified by plans and information 
received 17 September 2020.

OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 The application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Development Manager.  

1.2 The Planning Casework Unit (PCU) have received a request from a third party for the 
Secretary of State for Planning at the Department for Communities and Local 
Government to call-in the application.  The PCU is responsible for central Government 
planning matters.  

1.3 As such, should the Committee wish to approve the application, it must first be 
referred to the PCU for consideration.  The PCU will determine whether the Secretary 
of State’s intervention is needed and if necessary, prepare a submission summarising 
the planning issues for the Secretary of State to decide whether to call in the 
application for his determination.

1.4 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is a 
6.41-hectare irregular shaped agricultural field to the northeast of Watlington.  The site 
borders Cuxham Road on one side and there is an informal vehicular access onto 
Cuxham Road.  Willow Close is adjacent to the southeast of the site and the other 
sides of the site border agricultural land.      

1.5 The application seeks permission for a residential development of up to 70 homes and 
associated open space and drainage.  The application is submitted in outline with all 
matters reserved.  The matters of layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and access 
will be considered later under a ‘reserved matters’ application if outline planning 
permission is granted.  

1.6 The site does not fall within any areas of special designation.  The Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Beauty (AONB) wraps around the south and east of Watlington and its 
closest point is around 500m from the site.  

1.7 Pyrton Conservation Area lies around 280m to the northeast of the site.  The Grade II* 
listed Pyrton Manor and several other listed buildings are within Pyrton Conservation 
Area.

1.8 Around 750m to the east of the site is the Grade II Registered Park and Garden 
associated with Shirburn Castle.  There are several Grade II Listed structures within 

Page 83

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1927/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

the grounds and the Castle itself is a Grade I Listed Building.  The Castle and grounds 
are also part of Shirburn Conservation Area.  

1.9 The boundary of Watlington Conservation Area is around 100m to the south of the 
site.  This also contains a number of listed buildings, with the Grade II* Church of St. 
Leonard located closest to the site.   

1.10 Watlington have a “made” Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP).  Amongst 
other matters, the WNDP aims to provide a minimum of 238 new homes and includes 
an indicative route for a re-aligned B4009 to the north and west of the town in order to 
reduce congestion in the town centre, to improve air quality and provide a route for 
some through traffic.    

1.11 The application site is allocated for development in the WNDP.  This site-specific 
policy (Site B) supports proposals for residential development on this site and requires 
the proposal to comply with several amenity and environmental criteria.  

1.12 This planning p[application has been submitted in conjunction with another application 
for up to 60 homes on the field to the northeast of the site.  This site is also allocated 
for housing in the WNDP (Site C) and is being considered under application reference 
P19/S1927/O.  Together, the proposals for Site B and Site C will link Cuxham Road to 
Pyrton Lane.   

1.13 The main road through the application site and this neighbouring development site 
would form part of the Watlington Edge Road.  The provision of the Edge Road sits at 
the heart of the WNDP and aims to divert traffic around Watlington in order to reduce 
congestion in the town centre and lead to an improvement in air quality.  

1.14 The Edge Road would link the B4009 Britwell Road to the south of Watlington, to the 
B4009 Shirburn Road at the north of the town.  The route of the Edge Road would 
involve several sites which are at various stages in the planning process, as referred 
to in the Planning History section below.      

1.15 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035) safeguards land for the Edge 
Road.  Whereas the WNDP shows one route, the SOLP 2035 shows two options for 
the western section of the road.  The two options have been included at the request of 
Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) who are undertaking an optioneering exercise to 
ascertain which route is preferable.  

1.16 As part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, OCC has secured funding to 
forward fund delivery of parts of the Edge Road beyond the identified development 
sites along it. OCC is preparing a planning application for the road and their current 
ambition is to deliver the road by late 2023 / early 2024.

1.17 At the request of OCC, the applicant submitted an alternative illustrative layout plan.  
This is because the exact route of the road has not yet been finalised.  The plans 
show that, in combination, the application site and the neighbouring development site 
(Site C) could deliver the Edge Road along either of the two options identified for the 
possible route of the road.

1.18 The plans attached as Appendix B show an illustrative layout that would follow the 
Edge Road route that is shown in the WNDP.  It is noted that this application only 
considers the development of the southwest field, as indicated on the location plan.  
The layout is shown with the adjoining proposal to be considered under application 
P19/S1927/O.  

Page 84



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

1.19 The plans attached as Appendix C show the indicative layout utilising the existing 
roundabout at Willow Close for the Edge Road.  This route is not shown in the WNDP 
but is the alternative option being explored by OCC and is shown as safeguarded in 
the SOLP 2035.  

1.20 As the application is submitted in outline, with access as a reserved matter, the 
access point is not a matter to be considered under this application.  The two 
illustrative plans have been submitted to show that this development, in combination 
with the neighbouring development, could be implemented using either of the options 
for the Edge Road.  

1.21 The location of the access would need to be approved through a subsequent reserved 
matters application.  This outline planning application is purely to consider whether the 
site could accommodate up to 70 homes.  

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
A summary of the latest responses received to the proposal is below.  A full copy of all 
the comments made including those in respect of previous iterations of the proposals 
can be seen online at: 
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&RE
F=P19/S1928/O

Watlington Parish 
Council 

No objection  
However, Watlington Parish Council notes that the inclusion 
of the additional detail outlining the potential for the edge 
road to route off the Cuxham Road roundabout has been 
submitted at the request of OCC. This illustrative route is at 
variance with the Parish Council’s preferred route as 
detailed in the WNDP. Watlington Parish Council accepts 
that as this is an outline planning application with all matters 
reserved, including access and the route of the edge road, 
there are no grounds to object at this stage.

Cuxham with 
Easington Parish 
Council

Objection   
 Sites B and C should be considered together
 No safe route for construction traffic if site 

considered alone
 Construction traffic should not be directed through 

Cuxham

Pyrton Parish Council Objection   
 Application is premature as decisions have not been 

made about Edge Road or the potential expansion of 
Icknield Community College 

 Pyrton Lane not suitable for additional traffic 
 Highway safety risk to pedestrians and cyclists on 

Pyrton Lane 
 Consideration should be given to cumulative traffic 

impacts 
 Increased flood risk and threat of flooding to the 

heritage asset Pyrton Manor

Page 85

https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S1928/O
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S1928/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Shirburn Parish 
Meeting 

Objection   
 Further development in Watlington is unnecessary 
 No consideration on heritage assets or AONB
 There is no route confirmed or planning consent for 

the Edge Road 
 Edge Road contrary to Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan 
 No proven need for Edge Road
 Impact of traffic on Shirburn
 Strain on health care, doctor’s surgery and bus links 
 Further strain on road network from construction 

traffic  

Neighbour 
Representations 

27 raising the following objections / concerns:
 Willow Close roundabout should not be used for 

Edge Road 
 The plan has always been to not use Willow Close 

roundabout for the Edge Road.  
 Using the Willow Close roundabout for Edge Road 

will increase noise, disturbance and pollution for local 
residents

 Highway safety implications of using Willow Close for 
the Edge Road 

 Using Willow Close for the Edge Road would ruin the 
neighbourhood 

 Willow Close option would impact on cats, 
hedgehogs and bats 

 Use of Willow Close roundabout for Edge Road 
contrary to Neighbourhood Plan 

 OCC overturning Neighbourhood Plan
 No further development until Edge Road is assured 
 Delivery of part of Edge Road will not resolve traffic 

issues 
 Proposal should provide footpath link to countryside
 Isolated from rest of town 
 Infrastructure not adequate to cope with more homes
 Need more employment opportunities 
 Impact on views towards church / AONB
 Should be considered strategically 
 Watlington does not require further housing
 Impact on heritage assets 
 Impact on AONB
 Edge Road contrary to Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan 
 Application should be rejected until delivery of Edge 

Road assured

Watlington 
Environmental Group 

Observations
 Must demonstrate that water sources are protected 

and a net gain in biodiversity is achieved
 Drainage strategy should maximise biodiversity
 Habitats should be linked 

Watlington Climate 
Action Group 

Objection 

Page 86



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

 Plans for housing should be reconsidered due to 
climate emergency 

 Adverse environmental impacts of housebuilding
 Loss of countryside
 Should adopt an exemplary standard 

Chilterns 
Conservation Board 

No objection 
 Lighting should be an exemplar of good practice to 

conserve and enhance night sky tranquillity of the 
Chilterns 

 Important that the landscaping breaks up the layout 
and the development avoids a hard-urban edge  

 Lower density development to the edges is 
welcomed

 Fewer dwellings would lessen the impact on the 
wider setting of the AONB

Southern Gas 
Network 

No objection   
 Set out requirements for working around gas pipes

Thames Water No objection   
 Subject to a condition requiring either network 

upgrades or agreement of a phasing plan 

Environment Agency Not able to make a detailed assessment of the application 
but provided some general guidance.

Oxfordshire County 
Council Single 
Response 

Transport Development Control
No objection 

 Subject to conditions requiring a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan and a Green Travel Plan

 Legal agreement required to secure financial 
contributions towards highways infrastructure and 
highway works

 The proposal would not prejudice the route of the 
Watlington Edge Road and would provide a 
significant element of it

 Swept path analysis of Pyrton Lane demonstrates 
that two large cars can pass along its entirety 

 Signage strategy for Pyrton Lane would deter HGV 
use

 The road layout would bypass the S-bends on Pyrton 
lane

 The Planning Inspector’s decision for Site A is 
permissive of increased use of Pyrton Lane

 Town centre mitigation proposed for Site A would 
accommodate traffic impact arising from the 
proposed development

Lead Local Flood Authority
No objection

Education 
No objection

Page 87



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

 Would need to be proceeded by a consent on 
P19/S1927/O to secure the transfer of land to 
facilitate the potential expansion of Icknield 
Community College 

 Legal agreement required to secure a financial 
contribution towards schools 

Archaeology 
No comments 

Housing Development 
Officer 

No objection   
 Set out requirements for affordable housing 

Air Quality Officer No objection   
 Development would provide part of edge road and 

would incorporate minimum best practice air quality 
mitigation measures

 Edge Road is a real opportunity to enhance and 
improve local air quality in Watlington 

Countryside Officer No objection 
 Subject to conditions requiring a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan for biodiversity and 
a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 

 Habitats on site not a constraint to development
 Possible to achieve a net gain in biodiversity 

Forestry Officer No objection 
 Subject to conditions requiring tree and hedge 

protection and the approval of a landscaping scheme 
and management

Urban Design Officer No objection    
 Provided comments on detailed design matters to be 

taken into consideration at reserved matters stage

Drainage Officer No objection 
 Subject to conditions requiring surface water and foul 

water drainage schemes

Contaminated Land 
Officer 

No objection 
 The submitted assessment does not identify any 

significant sources of contamination 

Environmental Health 
Officer 

No objection 
 Subject to condition requiring noise assessment and 

mitigation

Page 88



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 There is no planning history for this site.  However, there are applications on nearby 

sites that are relevant to the extent that they include proposals for the Edge Road:

- As referred to above, there is a current outline planning application on the adjoining 
field to the northeast of the site, known as ‘Site C’.  This application (P19/S1927/O) 
for up to 60 homes is also being considered at the committee meeting on 13 
January 2021. 

- The land to the west of Cuxham Road is allocated for housing in the WNDP as 
‘Site A’ and has planning permission for 183 homes under application reference 
P17/S3231/O, which was allowed at appeal.  This development will directly deliver 
a section of the Edge Road and provide a financial contribution to the sections that 
OCC would deliver.  The route of the Edge Road would follow the route shown in 
the WNDP.  

- Planning application P19/S4585/O is for a similar proposal on Site A and is 
pending a decision.  This would provide an alternative route for the Edge Road via 
the existing roundabout that serves Willow Close.   

- The field to the east of P19/S1927/O has a pending planning application for the 
erection of up to 100 homes under application reference P16/S2576/O.  A 
recommendation has not yet been made in relation to this proposal. 

- The brownfield site on the corner of Shirburn Road and Pyrton Lane has planning 
permission for a care home and 37 retirement units through application references 
P18/S0002/O and P19/S2380/RM.  This site would not deliver a section of the 
Edge Road but, as a requirement of the planning permission, would require land to 
be passed to OCC to enable OCC to construct a roundabout to link the Edge Road 
to Shirburn Road.    

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The council issued a Screening Opinion for this proposal under reference 

P18/S3934/SCR in January 2019.  This confirmed that an Environmental Impact 
Assessment is not required.  All issues are of local significance only and can be 
examined through the normal planning process.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

In the case of South Oxfordshire, the Development Plan consists of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035, which was adopted on 10 December 2020.  Watlington’s 
Neighbourhood Development Plan also forms part of the Development Plan.  

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2035 
The relevant policies in the SOLP 2035 include policy TRANS3, which specifies land 
safeguarded for strategic transport schemes, including land for a bypass for Watlington.  
The safeguarded route is shown on the map below:

Page 89



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Other relevant policies are:
STRAT1 – The overall strategy
STRAT2 – Housing and employment requirements 
STRAT5 – Residential densities 
H1 – Delivering new homes 
H9 – Affordable housing 
H11 – Market mix 
INF1 – Infrastructure provision 
TRANS1b – Supporting strategic transport investment 
TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 
TRANS5 – Consideration of development proposals
INF4 – Water resources 
ENV1 – Landscape and countryside 
ENV2 – Designated sites, priority habitats and species
ENV3 – Biodiversity 
ENV5 – Green infrastructure in new developments 
ENV6 – Historic environment 
ENV7 – Listed buildings 
ENV8 – Conservation areas 
ENV12 – Pollution 
EP1 – Air quality 
EP3 – Waste collection and recycling 
EP4 – Flood risk 
DES1 – Delivering high quality development 
DES2 – Enhancing local character 
DES3 – Design and access statements 
DES4 – Masterplans for allocated sites and major development 
DES6 – Residential amenity 
DES8 – Efficient use of resources 
DES9 – Promoting sustainable design 
DES10 – Carbon reduction 
CF5 – Open space, sport and recreation in new residential development 

Page 90



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP)
The Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP) 2017 – 2033 allocates 
three housing sites in an arc north and west of the town.  These will deliver a minimum 
of 238 new homes over the plan period. The WNDP also shows a route for an edge 
road to reduce the volume of traffic in the town centre and lead to an improvement in air 
quality.  

The map below is taken from the WNDP and shows the allocated housing sites (A, B 
and C) and an indicative route for an edge road:

The WNDP is a made Plan and therefore carries full weight. Other relevant policies are:

Watlington Housing Policy: Site B – Land off Cuxham Road and Willow Close 
P1 – Protect and enhance the character and the historic setting of the town
P2 – Transport 
P3 – Conserve and enhance the natural environment 
P5 – New housing development 

5.2 Pyrton also have a Neighbourhood Development Plan covering their Parish, which 
adjoins Watlington.  The policies in the Pyrton Neighbourhood Plan that relate to 
heritage assets and landscape matters are relevant to this proposal.  However, they do 
not add anything substantial to the relevant policies in the SOLP 2035 and WNDP 
insofar as the matters to be considered under this application.    

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG) (November 2016)
Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (April 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998

Page 91



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:

 The principle of the development

 Matters of detail / technical issues:
- affordable housing and housing mix,
- traffic impact and highway safety,
- air quality,
- landscape and character,
- heritage,
- trees and ecology,
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination).

 Infrastructure requirements:
- infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

6.2

The principle of the development 

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The Development Plan for South Oxfordshire is the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035).  

6.3 The policies of the SOLP 2035 that are of most relevance to the principle of the 
development are those that seek to direct new development to sustainable locations.  
This is achieved through a hierarchical approach in policy STRAT1, complemented by 
policy H1 which supports the delivery of housing on sites that are allocated by 
Neighbourhood Development Plans.  

6.4 The Watlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (WNDP) also forms part of the 
Development Plan.  The site is allocated for housing in the WNDP as “Site B” and as 
such, the principle of the development is acceptable, and the proposal accords with the 
relevant policies in the Development Plan.       

6.5 In terms of detail, the WNDP states that it is anticipated that the site will yield 
approximately 40-60 dwellings.  The application proposes up to 70 homes and 
therefore exceeds the expected yield.  The increase in housing numbers is not in itself 
a reason to object to the application as the numbers presented in the WNDP are a 
minimum.  In this case, the illustrative layout plans show that a layout could be secured 
to effectively mitigate the impacts of the additional dwellings.  

6.6 The policy for housing on Site B also requires the development to comply with several 
amenity and environmental considerations.  These are considered in the relevant 
sections of this report and are set out in the bullet points below: 

Page 92



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

 They conform to the principles set out in the Watlington Design Guide
 They are landscape-led and are appropriate for their location within the setting 

of the Chilterns AONB. All proposals should demonstrate that they have 
addressed site layout, design, orientation, height, bulk and scale of structures 
and buildings. In addition, careful consideration should be given to the use of 
colours, materials and the reflectiveness of surfaces in relation to the proximity 
of the site to the AONB. Careful consideration should be given to the use of 
street lights and other forms of external illumination to safeguard the dark night 
skies of the AONB

 They provide affordable dwellings to development plan standards
 They are designed in a way which takes account of heritage assets in the wider 

locality of the site
 They provide land to safeguard the route for a re-aligned B4009
 They provide land for formal and informal recreation use and open space in 

accordance with development plan standards
 They provide space for an informal recreation area
 They create connectivity with the existing Marlbrook development, town centre 

and the countryside
 They are designed so that the built edge of the development blends into the 

landscape to the north and west
 They provide for any necessary traffic mitigation measures
 They deliver a well-balanced mix of housing types, including needs identified in 

the most recent Watlington Housing Study
 They include measures to provide resilience to the effects of climate change

6.7

Matters of detail / technical issues

Affordable housing and housing mix

The application documents state that 40 percent of the proposed homes will be 
affordable.  This complies with policy H9 of the SOLP 2035 in terms of the overall 
amount of affordable housing.  

6.8 In terms of the tenure of this 40 percent, the council’s Housing Development team 
commented on this application prior to the adoption of the SOLP 2035 and suggested a 
mix which accorded with the affordable housing policy in the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy (SOCS).  The SOCS policy (policy CSH3) required a tenure mix of 75 percent 
social rented and 25 percent shared ownership.  

6.9 Policy H9 of the SOLP 2035 requires a tenure mix of 40 percent affordable rented, 35 
percent social rented and 25 percent other affordable routes to home ownership.  The 
council’s Housing Development team will be preparing new comments on the 
application based on the requirements of SOLP 2035 policy H9 and officers will provide 
an update at the committee meeting.  

6.10 The affordable units will need to be distributed evenly across the site to avoid large 
clusters and must be indistinguishable from the market housing.  Subject to the 
affordable homes being secured through the provisions of a Section 106 legal 
agreement, the proposal will provide homes to meet the needs of the district in 
compliance with policy P5 of the WNDP and the requirement for Site B to provide 
affordable dwellings in accordance with Development Plan standards.  

6.11 In terms of market housing, the mix can be secured through a condition requiring the 
mix to be informed by the most up-to-date housing needs assessment.  This would 

Page 93



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

ensure that the development of the site accords with the criteria for Site B to deliver a 
well-balanced mix of housing types, including needs identified in the most recent 
Watlington Housing Study. 

6.12

Traffic impact and highway safety

Watlington’s narrow streets are under extreme pressure from vehicles passing through 
the town, severely detracting from its historic character, harming living conditions and 
creating a hostile pedestrian environment.  The Edge Road would help to relieve this 
situation.

6.13 This proposal, in combination with the development of the adjoining Site C, will play an 
important role in providing part of the Edge Road.  The Edge Road through the 
application site and Site C will be delivered by the developer.  The other stretches of 
the route will be delivered through a combination of direct delivery by developers, 
developer contributions and construction by OCC.  

6.14 The nearby Site A has planning permission with potential for the Edge Road to be 
provided to Cuxham Road where it would join with the application site along the route 
shown in the WNDP.  There is also a planning application with an alternative scheme 
for Site A which is pending a decision.  This would provide a potential alternative route 
for the Edge Road via the existing roundabout at Willow Close.  

6.15 The illustrative plans submitted with this application show that the layout of the 
application site could be arranged to accommodate the Edge Road in the location 
shown in the WNDP (as shown in Appendix B).  The illustrative plans also show that 
the site could be accessed off the Willow Close roundabout with the Edge Road 
following the alternative route that is being considered by OCC (as shown in Appendix 
C).  

6.16 As this is an outline planning application with access reserved for consideration later, 
the access points are not fixed and are for illustrative purposes only.  The illustrative 
plans have demonstrated that the development of the site would not prejudice or 
prejudge the route of the Edge Road.  If this application progresses positively, the exact 
position of the access, and the route of the Edge Road, will be determined under a 
reserved matters application.  

6.17 In terms of traffic impact, the submitted Traffic Assessment has considered various 
scenarios including provision and part provision of the Edge Road.  With the entire 
Edge Road in place and open to traffic the development traffic would have an 
acceptable impact on local junctions.  The assessment shows that with just the element 
of the road through Site C and the application site open, that there would be a 
negligible impact on local junctions.  

6.18 The highways officer at OCC commented that the junction assessments in these 
scenarios were reassuring.  However, he initially raised concern that there was no 
assessment of the impact on Pyrton Lane, which is a narrow rural lane.  

6.19 To the south, Pyrton Lane has two very tight bends with limited forward visibility.  The 
provision of the route through the application site and Site C would by-pass the 
southern part of Pyrton Lane, including the tight bends.

6.20 In order to address the highway officer’s concern about there being no assessment of 
the impact on Pyrton Lane, the applicant submitted a swept path analysis.  This 
demonstrated that two large cars (4 x 4s) are able to pass within the carriageway along 

Page 94



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

its entirety.  The proposals also include a signage strategy for Pyrton Lane to deter 
HGV use and warn of narrowing in the carriageway.          

6.21 In addition, traffic mitigation measures were secured as a requirement of the 
development that was approved at appeal on Site A (P17/S3231/O).  This included 
parking restrictions in the town centre until such a time as the Edge Road is open to 
traffic.  

6.22 The traffic modelling that was considered for the appeal at Site A took account of 
housing developments expected to be delivered in the next five years, which included 
the application site and Site C.  The Planning Inspector who determined the appeal 
concluded that up until at least 2024, the effects of the development can be mitigated 
with a positive effect on traffic flows through the town centre and a negligible effect on 
flows along Pyrton Lane.       

6.23 Although these measures are likely to be implemented through the development of Site 
A, there is no guarantee that this will be the case.  As such, it is necessary for the town 
centre traffic mitigation that was agreed for Site A to be secured under the legal 
agreement for this application.  It is acknowledged that the town centre mitigation 
measures are an interim solution, in advance of the completion of the Edge Road.   

6.24 As time progresses, there is increased confidence about the delivery of the Edge Road.  
Funds are available as part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal for OCC to 
forward fund parts of the Edge Road that are beyond identified development sites.  
OCC are continuing their optioneering exercise to confirm the exact route of the road 
and their current ambition is to deliver the road by late 2023 / early 2024.  The 
safeguarding of the whole of the route has also gained weight following the adoption of 
the SOLP 2035.  

6.25 In accordance with the decision taken on Site A, the application proposals are 
considered to have an acceptable impact on the highway network.  Subject to 
appropriate travel planning and a contribution towards public transport, the location of 
the site is considered relatively accessible and does not raise concerns of sustainability.  

6.26 The proposals would provide land to safeguard the route for a re-aligned B4009 and 
would also provide for any necessary traffic mitigation measures, in accordance with 
the requirements for the development of Site B in the WNDP.  In terms of the stipulation 
to create connectivity with the existing Marlbrook development, town centre and the 
countryside, the illustrative plans show that all opportunities have been taken to 
integrate new footpaths into the surrounding footpath network.  Linkages to the rural 
footpaths cannot be secured as part of the application as this would require 
development outside of the application site boundary.

6.27 Subject to the completion of a legal agreement and relevant conditions, the proposal 
would also comply with the relevant Development Plan policies.  This includes policies 
TRANS2 and TRANS5 of the SOLP 2035, which seek to promote sustainable transport 
and accessibility and create appropriate conditions for all users of the highway.  

6.28

Air quality

The traffic pressures on the Town Centre that cause congestion also have a negative 
impact on air quality.  The air pollution problem in Watlington is based on congestion 
levels in an area of narrow streets and relatively high sided buildings creating a ‘street 
canyon’ effect with pollutants unable to disperse effectively.   

Page 95



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6.29 Watlington Town Centre is one of three Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) within 
South Oxfordshire.  AQMAs are designated when the levels of pollutants in the air have 
reached those identified by the government as harmful to health and are in breach of 
what is called the ‘national air quality objectives.’  

6.30 The council’s air quality officer is supportive of the Edge Road as it is a real opportunity 
to enhance and improve local air quality in line with the principles in the NPPF.  The 
proposal would directly deliver part of the Edge Road and also contribute to off-site 
sections through a financial contribution.  

6.31 The proposals would also incorporate air quality mitigation measures including electric 
vehicle charging points, sustainable travel packs, cycle storage and gas boilers within a 
specified standard.  These measures can be secured via a condition.  

6.32 The proposal would therefore comply with policies ENV12 and EP1 of the SOLP 2035, 
which require developments to be located and designed so that they do not have 
adverse impacts on human health and include measures to minimise air pollution.   
 

6.33

Landscape and character

Whilst the site lies outside of the Chilterns AONB, it is within its setting.  Section 85 of 
the Countryside and Rights of Way Act requires regard to be paid to the purposes of 
conserving and enhancing AONBs.  The terminologies are slightly different but policy 
ENV1 of the SOLP 2035 and para.172 of the NPPF seek broadly similar objectives.   

6.34 The town of Watlington and its relationship with the surrounding rural areas is visible in 
the panoramic views from Watlington Hill, which is within the AONB.  These views are 
impressive and much public benefit is derived from this open access National Trust site.  
Watlington as a settlement nestles within these views and this relationship contributes 
to the special qualities of this part of the AONB.  

6.35 Development on the edge of Watlington should therefore be treated with great care as 
it has the potential to erode and harm the setting of the AONB.  The design and 
location of both the proposed lighting and green infrastructure elements are particularly 
important in terms of the impact on the setting of the AONB.  When combined these 
considerations impact upon wider views from within the AONB, especially when looking 
down from the higher ground at Watlington Hill. 

6.36 Given that the site is within an intrinsically dark sky location, the lighting strategy should 
seek to achieve an exemplary design standard.  To safeguard the dark night skies of 
the AONB, lighting should only be used where and when needed and should be the 
minimum required.  Lighting details can be secured via a condition.       

6.37 One of the requirements for this site in the WNDP is that the proposals are designed so 
that the built edge of the development blends into the landscape to the north and west.  
The indicative layout shows that it will be possible to incorporate significant landscaping 
at the rural edges of the site, avoiding a hard-urban edge.  

6.38 The low density of the development will allow for the incorporation of street trees and 
green spaces within the built-up element of the development.  These factors will help 
achieve a pattern of development that fits with the grain of Watlington.  A future 
reserved matters application will need to demonstrate a strong landscape-led approach.  

6.39 The detailed scale, design and appearance of the development will be considered at 
reserved matters stage.  Materials will need to be carefully considered, and as required 

Page 96



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

by the WNDP, the proposal will need to conform to the principles set out in the 
Watlington Design Guide.  

6.40 The details submitted with this outline application demonstrate that the site can 
accommodate the level of development proposed whilst conserving and enhancing the 
setting of the AONB.  This accords with the above Development Plan policies, including 
the relevant criteria in the WNDP.  
 

6.41

Heritage

There are no designated heritage assets on the site, however it sits in the setting of 
several assets: Pyrton Manor and Pyrton Conservation Area, Watlington Conservation 
Area and St Leonard’s Church and Shirburn Castle Registered Park and Garden and 
Shirburn Conservation Area.  The WNDP highlights the need for the proposal to be 
designed in a fashion that respects heritage assets in the wider locality of the site.  

6.42 In considering whether to grant planning permission, the statutory test in section 66 (1) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires the 
decision maker to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of 
listed buildings.  In relation to conservation areas, section 72 (1) of the Act requires 
special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character 
and appearance of that area.  

6.43 There is a greater separation between the application site and Pyrton Conservation 
Area than there is with the proposed development on Site C, which adjoins this 
designated area.  However, the two developments together will have an impact on the 
setting of Pyrton Conservation Area and the listed buildings within it.  

6.44 The presence of built form will erode the open rural character of the existing setting to 
the Pyrton Conservation Area which is most notable as you travel along Pyrton Lane 
and into the village from the south-eastern edge.  This impact will be most noticeable at 
night with the introduction of increased street-lighting and general light pollution from 
the development and movement of vehicles. 

6.45 The proposed lighting strategy suggests that light levels would be no more than 
necessary and designed to reflect the low-light area and proximity to the AONB.  
Lighting details can be secured via a condition and, as referred to above, should seek 
to achieve an exemplary design standard.  

6.46 When commenting on the associated application at Site C (P19/S1927/O), the council’s 
conservation officer concluded that the proposals will lead to less than substantial harm 
to the significance of the Pyrton heritage assets.  As required by paragraph 196 of the 
NPPF, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  

6.47 There will be several benefits associated with the proposed development including the 
significant benefits of the delivery of housing, and particularly much needed affordable 
housing.  Furthermore, this housing will be delivered on an allocated site, which has 
been through the plan led process, including a public referendum.  Through this 
process, the allocated sites have been determined as being the most appropriate 
location for growth at Watlington.  

6.48 The proposal will also have the benefit of delivering part of the route of the Edge Road.  
The benefits that would amount from this element of the proposal include easing the 
traffic pressures in the town centre and a resultant improvement in air quality.  

Page 97



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Reducing congestion in the town centre will also have a positive impact on its historic 
character and improve the pedestrian environment.   

6.49 The level of harm to the heritage assets within Pyrton will be at the lower end of the 
scale.  The public benefits that would result from the proposed development would, in 
the opinion of council officers, outweigh the harm.   

6.50 It is also noted that the Inspector who examined the SOLP 2035 considered the 
Watlington Edge Road in depth and held a separate hearing on it.  Although the 
specific impact of this application was not considered at the hearing, it is relevant in so 
far that the development will include a section of the Edge Road.  In his report on the 
SOLP 2035, the Inspector comments that:
 

‘The historic buildings of Pyrton would be well away from the route of the edge road 
with a considerable amount of intervening greenspace which could be reinforced 
through the design of the road, and the safeguarding has been realigned so that it is 
further from the setting of the Manor in Pyrton’.

6.51 In terms of the impact on other heritage assets, the application site is separated from 
Watlington Conservation Area by existing 20th Century housing at Willow Close which 
also creates a barrier between the site and St Leonard’s Church.  The experience of 
the Watlington Conservation Area and the setting of the church will not be detrimentally 
impacted as this will essentially exacerbate an existing situation of modern 
development on what was the historic settlement edge.

6.52 Further to the north is Shirburn Castle, the Registered Park and Garden and Shirburn 
Conservation Area. There is far greater separation between these assets and the 
application site.  Whilst there may be some additional light pollution arising from the 
development as experienced from these assets, this is much more closely read 
alongside the existing situation and would have a negligible impact on the overall 
significance of the designated heritage assets at Shirburn.

6.53 Overall, officers consider that the public benefits of the development will outweigh the 
low-level harm to heritage assets.  The proposal accords with the relevant Development 
Plan policies which seek to conserve and enhance heritage assets and their settings for 
their important contribution to local distinctiveness, character and sense of place.  This 
includes policies ENV6, ENV7 and ENV8 of the SOLP 2035.  The development also 
accords with the relevant heritage criteria under the requirements for Site B in the 
WNDP and policy P1, which required development to respect the local and historic 
character of Watlington.     

6.54 In relation to archaeology, the County Council’s Archaeologist has confirmed that there 
are no known archaeological constraints to the development.   

6.55

Trees and ecology

In relation to trees, there are trees that are located adjacent to the southeast boundary 
of the site that are protected by a Tree Preservation Order.  There is also a row of trees 
within the site and the reserved matters layout should explore whether there is potential 
for these to be retained.  

6.56 The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Report including a Tree Survey, 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan.  Subject to the 
implementation of tree and hedge protection measure, the council’s forestry officer is 

Page 98



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

satisfied that the proposal will have an acceptable impact on trees.  The proposal 
therefore accords with policy ENV1 of the SOLP 2035 in this respect.    

6.57 With regards to ecology, the council’s ecologist has confirmed that the development is 
unlikely to have impacts on protected or priority species.  It is also possible for this site 
to achieve a net gain in biodiversity.  The proposal therefore complies with SOLP 2035 
policies ENV2 and ENV3.  

6.58

Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents

Given the distance to neighbouring properties, the proposal would not result in any 
adverse impacts on neighbouring amenity in terms of a loss of light, overlooking or an 
overbearing impact.  

6.59 In terms of the amenity of future residents, this will be assessed at reserved matters 
stage when the details of the development are available.  The proposals would need to 
comply with relevant standards in relation to separation distances and garden sizes.  

6.60 The council’s environmental protection officer has commented about the potential for 
noise from the Edge Road to impact on future residents.  He has requested an acoustic 
assessment of road traffic and, if necessary, mitigation measures to protect the 
dwellings from the external noise environment.  This can be secured via a condition.   

6.61

Environmental matters (flooding, drainage and contamination)

The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding).  The council’s 
drainage engineer has considered the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and has 
raised no objection to the development subject to conditions to secure appropriate 
surface and foul water drainage schemes.  

6.62 Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing 
foul water network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of the development 
proposal.  Thames Water have therefore requested a condition requiring no properties 
to be occupied until all wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate the 
additional flows from the development have been completed, or a housing and 
infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed.  This requirement can be added to the 
foul water drainage condition.   

6.63 The submitted Phase 1 Ground Condition Assessment, does not identify any significant 
sources of contamination and only a very low risk is attributed to the site.  Following a 
review of Environmental Health records, the council’s contaminated land officer has 
confirmed that no further site investigations are required.  

6.64

Infrastructure requirements 

Infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement

Where necessary, on-site and off-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal 
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).  A S106 legal agreement would secure the on-site affordable housing, open 
space, and play. 

6.65 The extent of open space and land for recreation use will be detailed on a reserved 
matters application.  The illustrative plans show that a generous amount of open space 
can be accommodated on site, to meet Development Plan standards.  Details of a play 

Page 99



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

area can be submitted as a condition.  As such, the proposal meets the relevant criteria 
in the WNDP for the development of Site B.  

6.66 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document, the following index linked financial contributions would be required towards 
on-site infrastructure:

- £186 per dwelling towards the provision of recycling / refuse bins
- £229 per 10 dwellings towards street naming and numbering 
- £306 per dwelling towards the provision of public art 
- £3,106 administration and monitoring fee

6.67 OCC also require contributions / obligations to mitigate the impact of the development 
on the functions that they operate.  In this case, the development will impact on local 
education needs and the local highway network, both of which fall within their remit.  

6.68 In relation to education, there is insufficient capacity to accommodate the expected 
increase in demand from housing growth in the area, including this application, for early 
years education and secondary education.  The applicant has agreed to the following 
contributions to expand the capacity serving the site and to mitigate the impact of this 
development:  

- £77,758 towards early years education
- £373,001 towards secondary education 

6.69 Land is also required to facilitate the expansion of Icknield Community College and this 
can be secured through the provisions of the legal agreement for the associated 
development at Site C (P19/S1927/O).  The field to the rear of Icknield Community 
College is in the same ownership and the applicant has agreed to transfer the required 
land to OCC.  

6.70 With regards to highways, the following contributions / obligations have been agreed to 
mitigate the impact of the development:

- £7,000 per dwelling contribution towards Watlington Edge Road 
- £1,000 per dwelling towards public transport services 
- £1,200 for travel plan monitoring 
- Provision of spine road to specification of Watlington Edge Road
- Off-site highway works including signage and town centre mitigation (if not already 

implemented through development at Site A)
- Public transport infrastructure TBC (dependant on final layout – S106 to include a 

maximum amount)
- Public rights of way improvements TBC (dependant on final layout – S106 to 

include a maximum amount)
- £3,750 administration and monitoring fee 

6.71 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy INF1 of the SOLP 
2035 which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they 
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  

Page 100



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

6.72

Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in 2016.  This enables 
money to be collected from certain types of development to be pooled together with 
other developments to fund a wide range of infrastructure to support growth, including 
schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.    

6.73 The development is CIL liable at a rate of £150 per sq.m (index linked from 2016 and 
as of December 2020 £182.18 per sq.m), although relief can be claimed for the 
affordable housing.  Under the CIL Regulations, Watlington Parish Council will receive 
25 percent of the CIL collected to spend on infrastructure that is a priority to the 
community.  

6.74

Other matters 

In accordance with policy H11 of the SOLP 2035, a percentage of dwellings should be 
designed to meet the Building Regulations Part M requirement of accessible and 
adaptable dwellings and wheelchair accessible dwellings.  There is also a requirement 
in the ESOLP for some of the dwellings to meet Nationally Described Space Standards.  
These matters can be secured through conditions.  

6.75 In relation to climate change, there is a requirement in the WNDP for this site to include 
measures to provide resilience to the effects of climate change.  Policy DES10 of the 
SOLP 2035 also requires new development to meet specific requirements to reduce 
carbon.  To secure suitable measures, an Energy Statement can be secured through a 
condition.  This requirement reflects the importance of climate change following 
updates to the NPPF, as well as the council’s declared climate emergency 
and associated motion to aim to reach net-zero carbon emissions for the whole district 
by 2030.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application site is allocated for residential development within the Development 

Plan.  The proposal will deliver a variety of housing to help meet housing needs and will 
have further significant benefits in that it will provide a section of the Watlington Edge 
Road and contribute towards parts of the road that are outside of the development site.

7.2 The details provided with this outline planning application indicate that a scheme for up 
to 70 homes can be accommodated on the site in a manner that will have an 
acceptable impact on landscape character, ecology, trees and heritage assets.  All the 
technical issues can be addressed by conditions.

7.3 Details of the development will be considered at reserved matters stage and this 
includes layout, scale appearance and landscaping.  Details of the access will also be 
considered at reserved matters stage and the applicant has demonstrated that the site 
could be laid out to accommodate either of the options for the route of the Edge Road.  

7.4 When considered against the Development Plan as a whole, the proposal represents a 
sustainable form of development and there are no valid reasons to withhold outline 
planning permission.  

Page 101



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 It is recommended that authority to grant outline planning permission is 

delegated to the head of planning subject to:

i) Referral to the National Casework Unit;

ii) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the 
affordable housing, financial contributions and other obligations 
stated above, and

iii) The following conditions:

Reserved matters (including details to be submitted), time limit and approved 
plans

1. Submission of reserved matters 
2. Reserved matters to be submitted within three years
3. Commencement 
4. Approved plans 
5. No more than 70 dwellings
6. Market mix 
7. Details to be submitted with condition 1:

- energy statement
- details of roads, accesses, footpaths and services
- schedule of external materials 
- vehicle and cycle parking facilities 
- waste and recycling facilities
- boundary treatments  
- details of all street furniture
- existing and proposed ground levels 
- maintenance schedule and long-term management plan for soft 

landscaping

Pre-commencement
8. Phasing plan 
9. Details of off-site highway works 
10. Construction Traffic Management Plan 
11. Green Travel Plan 
12. Lighting plan
13. Environmental Management Plan for Biodiversity 
14. Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 
15. Tree and hedge protection 
16. Surface water drainage scheme 
17. Foul water drainage scheme (including Thames Waters requirements)
18. Noise from Edge Road and any necessary mitigation

Prior to Occupation 
19. Access provision 
20. Pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access
21. Details of play areas and timetable for implementation 
22. Air quality mitigation measures 
23. Superfast broadband connectivity

Page 102



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 13 January 2021

Compliance conditions 
24. Hours of construction 
25. At least 15% of market housing to meet Part M (4) Category 2
26. At least 5% of affordable housing to meet Part M (4) Category 3
27. All affordable housing and 1 and 2 bed market housing to meet Nationally 

Described Space Standards 

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix A 

 
Location Plan 

 

 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 11P19/S1928/O



P
age 106

SAV_EMMBOW_2
Typewriter
Appendix B 



P
age 107

SAV_EMMBOW_3
Typewriter
Appendix C 



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes Public Pack, 02/12/2020 Planning Committee
	Minutes


	8 P20/S2355/FUL - Land adjacent to Kiln Avenue, Chinnor
	Appendices A-B
	1 Appendix A
	Block Plan drwgno BLO001 Rev B
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1 (A0)


	Elevation Fence Proposed drwgno PE001
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1




	9 P19/S0058/FUL - Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, OX14 3DJ
	Appendices 1_2
	Appendix 1a Previous report
	8 P19/S0058/FUL - Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, OX14 3DJ

	Appendix 1b Appendices to original report
	8 P19/S0058/FUL - Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, OX14 3DJ
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 Location Plan drwgno LOC001
	Appendix 2a Site Plan drwgno S2.P.02 rev B
	Appendix 2b Ground and First Floor Plan Proposed drwgno S2.P.03 A
	Appendix 2c Elevations Proposed drgno S2.P.04
	Appendix 2d Floor Plan and Elevations Garage Proposed drwgno S2.P.05



	Appendix 2 S2 P 02D pro site layout


	10 P19/S1927/O - Land west of Pyrton Lane, Watlington
	Appendices A-C
	Appendix A - Location plan
	Appendix B - NP  route
	Appendix C - OCC route


	11 P19/S1928/O - Land off Cuxham Road, Watlington
	Appendices A-C
	Appendix A - Location plan
	Appendix B - NP  route
	Appendix C - OCC route





